

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

3-21-2024

Strategies to Reduce Employee Turnover in Nursing Homes

Laticia Nicole Beatty Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Laticia Nicole Beatty

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Betsy Macht, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Kim Critchlow, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Strategies to Reduce Employee Turnover in Nursing Homes

by

Laticia Nicole Beatty

MS, University of Phoenix, 2007

BS, Winston Salem State University, 1998

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2024

Abstract

Nursing home leaders in the United States face challenges with employee turnover. Nursing home leaders are concerned with turnover as it can contribute to suboptimal care of nursing home patients. Grounded in the transformational leadership theory, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry study was to explore strategies nursing home leaders use to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover. The participants were five nursing home leaders with successful strategies to reduce employee turnover. Data were collected using semistructured interviews. Three themes were identified through thematic analysis: (1) nursing home leaders form relationships with employees, creating a team and family work atmosphere; (2) nursing home leaders assess and address employee needs, focusing on their strengths and recognizing them for good work; and (3) nursing home leaders solve the challenges associated with employee retention by involving employees in the solutions to problems. Key recommendations include forming solid working relationships with employees, rewarding them for good work, and providing them with competitive compensation and benefits. Implications for positive social change include the potential to improve the quality of care for nursing home patients, which can positively impact the quality and duration of their lives.

Strategies to Reduce Employee Turnover in Nursing Homes

by

Laticia Nicole Beatty

MS, University of Phoenix, 2007
BS, Winston Salem State University, 1998

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2024

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my late grandmother, Inez. I pray I made you proud.

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to say thank you to my dissertation chair, Dr. Betsy Macht. Your guidance throughout my whole study has been instrumental in my tenacity and willingness not to give up. Thank you for believing in me and never giving up on me. Thank you to my second chair, Dr. Kim Critchlow, for your words of wisdom and push to want to go further in my writing. I would also like to thank my editor and dissertation coach, Dr. Cara Marie Manlandro. You have been instrumental in my success, and I thank you for your dedication and your patience with me.

Thank you to my family: Antonio Carlisle Beatty, Antonio Carlisle Beatty II, and Aden Cole Beatty. Thank you for allowing me to be a student and helping me persevere through the process. I want to thank my mother, Nora Pitts, for her push and her constant belief in me. I also would like to thank my pastor, Dr. Rose Thomas, for her prayers and always interceding for me thank you to my participants who allowed me to access their expertise and dedication to their patients and organizations.

.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	3
	Population and Sampling	4
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	7
	Interview Questions	7
	Theoretical Framework	8
	Operational Definitions	10
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	10
	Assumptions	. 10
	Limitations	. 11
	Delimitations	. 11
	Significance of the Study	12
	Contribution to Business Practice	. 12
	Implications for Social Change	. 13
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	13
	Transformational Leadership Theory	. 14
	Contrasting Theories	. 22
	Employee Retention Strategies	. 25
	Leadership Strategies for Preventing Employee Turnover	28

	Factors Influencing Employees' Intention to Attrite	37
	Strategies for Managing Quality Care in Nursing Homes	40
	Strategies to Reduce Costs Associated with Employee Turnover	48
	Gaps in the Literature and Rationale for the Study	53
	Transition	55
Se	ection 2: The Project	56
	Purpose Statement	56
	Role of the Researcher	56
	Participants	58
	Research Method and Design	59
	Research Method	60
	Research Design	61
	Population and Sampling	62
	Ethical Research	65
	Data Collection Instruments	66
	Data Collection Technique	67
	Data Organization Technique	71
	Data Analysis	72
	Phase One: Data Familiarization	73
	Phase Two: Coding	73
	Phase Three: Theme Development	73
	Phase Four: Thematic Map	74

Phase Five: Theme Refinement	74
Phase Six: Data Interpretation	74
Reliability and Validity	75
Reliability	75
Validity	76
Transition and Summary	78
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	79
Introduction	79
Presentation of the Findings	80
Theme 1: Nursing Home Leaders Form Relationships with Employees	81
Theme 2: Address Employee Needs and Recognize Good Work Builds	
Retention	85
Theme 3: Nursing Home Leaders Involve Employees in Solutions to	
Problems	90
Applications to Professional Practice	95
Theme 1: Nursing Home Leaders Form Relationships with Employees	95
Theme 2: Address Employee Needs and Recognize Good Work Builds	
Retention	96
Theme 3: Nursing Home Leaders Involve Employees in Solutions to	
Problems	97
Implications for Social Change	98
Elevated Well-being Through Person-Centered Care	98

Community Support and Collaborative Care	99
Organizational Excellence and Workforce Stability	99
Cultural Shift Towards Individualized Care	100
Societal Impact Through Healthcare Accessibility	100
Recommendations for Action	100
Healthcare Administrators and Leaders	101
Frontline Healthcare Staff	101
Policymakers	102
Research Community	102
Training Institutions	103
Recommendations for Further Research	103
Reflections	104
Conclusion	105
References	107
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	137

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employee turnover is a persistent problem that nursing home leaders continue to address. As nursing home leaders strive to meet the needs of their patients by retaining high-performing employees, the need to hire and retain healthcare professionals continues to grow (Davidson & Szanton, 2020). Reducing employee turnover, financial costs, and service quality may increase nursing home residents' quality of care (Davidson & Szanton, 2020). Nursing home leaders could reduce organizational costs by understanding why employees choose to leave their jobs. Improving employee involvement to retain competent employees within the organization remains a priority for many nursing home leaders (Abrams et al., 2020). Based on the findings of Davidson and Szanton (2020) and Abrams et al. (2020), the ability of nursing home leaders to retain high-performing employees is linked to the quality of care and the reduction of business costs. This study aimed to explore strategies nursing home leaders use to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce organizational costs. The outcomes of this study might help nursing home leaders increase employee retention and reduce organizational costs associated with staff turnover.

Background of the Problem

Nursing home leaders face challenges in retaining their employees, especially after the COVID-19 pandemic (Denny-Brown et al., 2020). According to the Long Term Care Community Coalition (2022), federal data indicate that the average nursing home experiences a turnover rate of 53.3% of its nursing home staff annually, with a registered nurse (RN) turnover rate of 51.9%. Nursing home staff attrition has significant financial

implications for nursing homes. According to the National Healthcare Retention and RN Staffing Report, the average organizational cost of turnover of one staff RN is approximately \$46,000 (Nursing Solutions Incorporated, 2023). Therefore, mechanisms promoting staff retention at U.S. nursing homes are a significant problem that must be addressed.

Nursing home leaders need accurate measurements and data on the specific factors contributing to employee attrition in their organizations (Gandhi et al., 2021). Researchers have demonstrated that effective leadership influences employee turnover in multiple fields, including healthcare (Perez, 2021). Specifically, ineffective nursing home leadership may contribute to employee attrition by influencing job satisfaction (White et al., 2021). Therefore, there is a specific need to understand nursing home leaders' leadership strategies to promote employee retention.

Determining effective leadership strategies for managing employee turnover should account for employees' organizational intent and understanding of professionalism as part of developing evidence-based management practices for nursing home leaders. Since leadership directly influences employee turnover (Perez, 2021), nursing home leaders can develop leadership strategies to control staff turnover rates, potentially reducing turnover costs (Gandhi et al., 2021). Implementing improved leadership strategies could help nursing homes survive and prosper. Consequently, nursing home leaders should include leadership as a foundational tenet in their strategic plans to promote employee retention. Such actions, in turn, will likely reduce employee turnover in the first year (Lee et al., 2017). Leaders who understand the factors that influence

employee turnover in other employee retention management plans can employ evidencebased steps to reduce problems associated with employee turnover.

Problem and Purpose

The general business problem was that employee turnover negatively impacts nursing homes' quality of care and organizational costs. The specific business problem in this study was that some nursing home leaders lack effective strategies to retain staff while maintaining an optimal quality of skilled nursing care and reducing costs associated with staff turnover. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry study was to explore strategies nursing home leaders use to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover. To understand this problem, I conducted semistructured interviews with nursing home leaders in North Carolina with successful employee retention strategies. Due to the significant organizational costs associated with employee turnover in U.S. nursing homes, the results of this study could have significant implications.

Studying the problem of leadership strategies nursing home leaders use to prevent employee turnover has several implications. Some implications include the development of effective leadership strategies to retain skilled nursing employees, raising awareness among nursing home leaders, and improving nursing homes' financial aspects. Nursing home staff turnover can have substantial economic consequences for nursing homes (Harrington et al., 2020). Nursing home staff turnover can have legal repercussions, particularly if patient quality of care decreases (Edelman et al., 2020). Additionally, researching this problem can aid in developing effective leadership strategies for

mitigating nursing home staff turnover. By emphasizing the issues of nursing home staff turnover, the study helps raise awareness among nursing home leaders to implement preventative employee turnover measures. Since many nursing home leaders lack sufficient strategies for mitigating employee turnover, the findings of this study can provide insight into nursing home management and business security and growth.

Population and Sampling

The target population for the study was nursing home leaders in North Carolina. Data were collected from five purposefully sampled nursing home leaders in North Carolina who were interviewed using semistructured interviews with open-ended questions designed to elicit their perspectives regarding leadership strategies to deter employee turnover. Participants were selected based on meeting the inclusion criteria for this study, which included the participants: (a) currently working as a nursing home leader at a North Carolina nursing home, (b) having at least five years of experience as a nursing home leader, (c) having two years of successful financials running a nursing home, and (d) had successful strategies to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce associated costs. Recruitment materials included the inclusion criteria so that participants could self-identify as qualified for the study. I also reviewed publicly available company documents provided by the participants for relevant nursing home business information for data triangulation.

Nature of the Study

I used the qualitative research methodology in this study. The qualitative method allows researchers to explore solutions to research problems based on an inductive

understanding of the participants' perspectives (Zivtins et al., 2020). A qualitative method provided insights into leadership strategies nursing home leaders use to prevent employee turnover. According to Zivtins et al. (2020), researchers use the qualitative method to answer questions about people's lives, lived experiences, behaviors, perspectives, and feelings regarding the overall phenomenon under investigation. Since the problem being addressed was that more research is needed regarding the leadership strategies of successful nursing home leaders in preventing employee turnover, a qualitative methodology was most appropriate for the study, as opposed to quantitative or mixed methodologies.

A quantitative approach was not required for this research study. Researchers use the quantitative methodology to test theoretical hypotheses using statistical analysis of variables regarding a phenomenon (Spetz et al., 2019). None of the four types of quantitative research methods, namely experimental, descriptive, correlative, or quasi-experimental, were appropriate for this study because I did not seek to study the cause-effect relationship or evaluate correlations between variables (Mohajan, 2020).

Qualitative research provides a clear understanding of dynamic situations not accessible by quantitative approaches (Zivtins et al., 2020). The mixed methodology draws from both qualitative and quantitative research designs (Timans et al., 2019). Specifically, a mixed methodology was not appropriate for this study due to the lack of a quantitative-based research question. I chose not to follow quantitative or mixed methods because the qualitative research method provided insight into the perceptions and beliefs of some nursing home leaders concerning employee retention, as well as strategies utilized to

retrain staff, maintain the quality of care, and reduce costs. I chose a qualitative research method using a pragmatic inquiry research design for this study.

Several qualitative research designs were not chosen for this study for various reasons. For example, an ethnographic research design was unsuitable for this research, as this method examines the intricacies of a culture (Hirsch & Gellner, 2020). I did explore a specific cultural paradigm; therefore, ethnography was not a suitable qualitative design for my research study. Researchers utilize a narrative design to collect data from participants that tell a personal story (Varnaseri & Alhaei, 2022). The participants in the study did not recount personal stories; therefore, a narrative design was not a suitable qualitative research design for my study. The phenomenological design focuses on individual lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994). However, this study explored the perceptions and beliefs of a group of individuals and strategies utilized to achieve a specific goal, namely employee retention. Therefore, a phenomenological design was deemed inappropriate for this study. A single case study design studies one specific group of people within a single organization (Yin, 2018). Since a case study aims to understand a group of individuals' mindsets, boundaries, and systems of behavioral patterns (Yin, 2018), this research design did not support my study. For these reasons, ethnographic, narrative inquiry, phenomenology, and case study research designs were not chosen for this study.

I chose a qualitative pragmatic inquiry research design for this study. The overarching goal of a pragmatic qualitative inquiry is to provide practical solutions and strategies to problems (House, 2018). This type of qualitative research allows a

researcher to examine an existing phenomenon, interrogate the underlying meanings and context of a problem, and identify pragmatic solutions that can be feasibly incorporated (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). Since my research aimed to understand the strategies utilized by nursing home leaders to reduce employee turnover, the pragmatic qualitative inquiry was the most appropriate research design for the study.

Research Question

The research question for my study was: What strategies do nursing home leaders use to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to successfully reduce employee turnover?
- 2. How do you monitor and measure nursing home employee retention?
- 3. What leadership strategies do you use to prevent employee turnover?
- 4. What challenges have you faced when implementing your employee turnover reduction strategies?
- 5. How did you successfully address those challenges?
- 6. What strategies do you use to maintain quality care for your nursing home residents?
- 7. How do you monitor and measure the quality of care for nursing home residents?
- 8. What strategies do you use to reduce costs associated with employee turnover at your nursing home?

- 9. How do you ensure that the reduction of costs does not result in the reduction of quality care?
- 10. What successful strategies were used to make the employees feel motivated?
- 11. What are the outcomes of the strategies you use to make employees feel motivated?
- 12. What successful strategies do you use to make employees feel empowered?
- 13. What are the outcomes of the strategies you use to make employees feel empowered?
- 14. What other insights would you like to provide that we have not already discussed regarding your nursing home's strategies to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs?

Theoretical Framework

Burns' (1978) transformational leadership theory (TLT), refined by Bass (1985, 1999), underpinned the design and analysis of my study. TLT is a systematic approach leaders use to initiate change through management styles that enhance followers' performance by raising awareness of the value of their goals (Manoppo, 2020). The logical connections between TLT and the nature of my study included a framework designed to understand how nursing home leaders motivate, empower, and influence their employees. Applying TLT could allow nursing home leaders to influence employee behavior through motivation and teamwork by focusing on organizational goals, thereby increasing employee retention. Burns suggested that to achieve an elevated level of performance, leaders should set examples that inspire and challenge employees to do

exemplary work. By understanding the strengths and weaknesses of each employee, leaders can consistently improve employee's quality of work. Burns used TLT to connect leader and follower roles that affect positive changes in individuals and social systems. Therefore, TLT was an appropriate theory to understand positive nursing home social system changes.

TLT contains four tenets: (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration (Bass, 1985). Idealized influence involves the leader serving as a role model for increased ethical behaviors to instill pride and trust and gain respect among followers (Bass, 1985; McManus, 2019). Inspirational motivation is how a leader depicts a concept that motivates their followers (Bass, 1985; McManus, 2019). Intellectual stimulation involves the leader asking their followers to express their ideas, encouraging creative risk-taking. Finally, a leader practicing individualized consideration conducts themselves based on the needs and reactions of individual employees (Bass, 1985; McManus, 2019). Therefore, TLT provided a lens for exploring how leaders can effectively inspire and motivate their followers.

Transformational leadership is a powerful tool for mitigating employee turnover in various industries, including healthcare (Robbins & Davidhizar, 2020). Transformative leaders influence positive organizational changes by inspiring followers (Gan & Voon, 2021). Such changes can, in turn, benefit other managers by developing or improving employee satisfaction, goal attainment, creativity, followers' well-being, and increased productivity levels (Tatar, 2020).

Operational Definitions

Intrinsic reward: Intrinsic reward is the amount of time an employee is satisfied with his or her work (Jastrow, 2019).

Quality of working life (QWL): QWL represents a variety of concepts about a worker's general sense of work derived from attitudes about salaries, bonuses, and the work environment (Abou Hashish, 2017).

Turnover intention: Turnover intention refers to factors influencing an employee's willingness to leave (Naseer et al., 2018).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Several assumptions were made in this study. In research, assumptions are defined as axioms that a researcher believes to be true without confirmation (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Researchers use assumptions to make probability judgments about the occurrence of events (Flage & Askeland, 2020). First, I assumed that employee retention is a prevalent problem for nursing home leaders and that this problem is due to a lack of sufficient leadership strategies to promote employee retention. Second, I assumed the nursing home leaders chosen for participation answered interview questions honestly. However, I acknowledge that some participants may have only answered partially truthfully due to wanting or needing to preserve the integrity of their institutions. The participants were encouraged to be truthful, as any data was anonymized during the data collection and analysis steps of this study. Third, I assumed that the data provided by the participants was appropriate for analysis under TLT.

Limitations

Researchers should be aware of the limitations of their studies. Ross and Bibler Zaidi (2019) defined limitations as a weakness that would identify those at risk beyond a researcher's control. First, the study could have been limited by a lack of participants who have successfully mitigated employee turnover with successful financial records in North Carolina nursing homes. A second limitation was derived from the choice to delimit the study to nursing home leaders in North Carolina. This regional delimitation limited the transferability of the findings to the general population of nursing home leaders in the United States. A third limitation of the study is that this research occurred directly after the COVID-19 pandemic, which significantly affected nursing home residents. This limitation limited face-to-face communication with study participants, limiting the researcher's ability to assess non-verbal communication during the interviews. Mitigation efforts to overcome these limitations included having a suitable recruitment strategy, scheduling interviews at mutually convenient times, and ensuring that all participants understood the purpose of the study and their rights to confidentiality during the study.

Delimitations

This study had several delimitations. Delimitations are the boundaries that researchers set in the decision-making processes in their research studies (Oumelkheir & Nadia, 2021). I delimited this study to nursing home leaders in North Carolina because the lack of caregivers in North Carolina nursing homes has been well-documented, leading to the question of whether this shortage is due to employee turnover (Sholar, 2021). This study only included leaders with at least five years of experience. These

leaders had experiences that may have preceded the COVID-19 pandemic and, therefore, offered insight into the problem of employee turnover before, during, and after the pandemic.

Significance of the Study

The findings of my study may have a substantial impact since many nursing home leaders are influenced by employee turnover and lack the leadership strategies and resources necessary to prevent such turnover. Employee turnover is prevalent in nursing homes (Denny-Brown et al., 2020) and contributes to significant organizational costs (Gandhi et al., 2021). Therefore, this study is significant in that the results may provide new insights regarding effective strategies that may enhance the capability and efficiency of nursing home leaders to retain staff, maintain the quality of care, and reduce operating costs. By adopting effective strategies related to employee retention, nursing home leaders providing services to nursing home residents could ultimately lower hiring and training costs and create tangible improvements to the quality of care. Research suggests that nursing home patients, particularly those with dementia, have better outcomes when treated by a small, consistent group of nurses (Haunch et al., 2021). Therefore, decreasing employee turnover in nursing homes might positively affect nursing home residents. As such, the findings of this study may contribute meaningful information to business practices in the nursing home industry and influence positive social change.

Contribution to Business Practice

Nursing home leaders are faced with unprecedented staff turnover rates in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic. Some U.S. nursing homes reported an

approximately 75% nursing staff turnover in 2020 (White et al., 2021). The findings from this study contribute to the nursing home industry because the results may inform new strategies for leaders to retain staff while identifying leadership habits that promote overall business success. Reducing turnover in nursing homes can reduce pressure and burnout in the work environment and stabilize the workforce (Rajamohan et al., 2019). A stable workforce lowers recruitment and training costs, reduces work deficiencies, and lessens the need to train new employees (Roth et al., 2021). A more efficient and experienced workforce reduces overall business costs (Pastores et al., 2019). Therefore, the results of this study provide insight into how to reduce nursing home costs while improving the quality of care for residents.

Implications for Social Change

The results from this study contribute to positive social change by bridging the gap between elder care and the community by educating local, state, and government leaders on the problems faced by nursing home leaders in retaining competent, highly trained staff (de Mazières et al., 2017). Involving local government, businesses, and civic organizations could enhance the quality of life, care for the elderly, and create more local jobs for community members.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

A professional and academic literature search was conducted using the following keywords: *nursing, home, staff, employee, retention, attrition,* and *leadership.* Several databases were searched, including Google Scholar, EBSCO, Emerald Insight, ACM Digital Library, Science Direct, and ProQuest Central. Several journals emerged as key

sources of information, as well as several business management, leadership, and nursing home resources. The literature review contained 90 sources, 88.3% of which appeared in English and were published between 2019 and 2023. Eighty-two (91%) of the sources were peer-reviewed articles.

Transformational Leadership Theory

TLT has been modified and expanded since it was first coined by sociologist

James Downtown in 1973. Transformational leadership theory is largely attributed to the
work of Burns (1978), who described transformational leadership as a method by which
leaders motivate their followers, promoting their commitment to the organization. Bass
(1985, 1999) later expanded and refined Burns' initial work on the transformational
leadership theory, describing transformational leaders encouraging followers to exceed
expectations by raising awareness of the value of individuals' personal and professional
goals while responding to organizational interests, needs, and demands.

TLT provides a lens for exploring different strategies for employee engagement. Transformational leaders are known for inspiring their employees beyond their personal interests on behalf of the organization's goals (Magbity et al., 2020) by serving as role models for employees (Cherry, 2022). When leaders recognize that individual and organizational needs can inspire and empower employees, TLT provides a platform for leaders and employees to explore innovative solutions to complex problems.

Transformational leaders motivate and inspire their followers. These leaders support employees' personal and professional growth by challenging and inspiring them to continuously seek knowledge (Dumas & Beinecke, 2018). Leaders who apply TLT

often inspire important and positive change among supporters. Specifically, leaders applying TLT tend to:

- 1. Act as role models who show intellectual motivation and a genuine interest in their followers (Cherry, 2022).
- 2. Focus on employee growth by working directly with employees to motivate and inspire their talents (Vezina, 2019).
- 3. Act as facilitators rather than task managers (Mansaray, 2019).
- 4. Mentor, motivate, listen to, and coach their followers to share their views and ideals (Kelly, 2020).
- 5. Strive to create a favorable working environment for their employees (Cherry, 2022).

Due to these characteristics, transformational leadership is widely acknowledged as an effective workplace strategy (Cherry, 2022). Therefore, TLT is an appropriate framework for understanding how nursing home leaders can mitigate or prevent nursing home staff turnover.

Transformational Leadership Theory Components

The basic structure of TLT contains four tenets: (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized considerations (Bass, 1985). Each of these constructs is discussed in turn.

Idealized Influence. The first component of TLT is idealized influence. Idealized influence is the process by which a leader serves as a role model for ethical behaviors to instill pride and trust and gain respect among followers (Bass, 1985; McManus, 2019).

Using idealized influence motivates and builds trust between leaders and followers (Bass, 1985). In the workplace, employees are more motivated and productive when they are perceived to be valued and appreciated, especially when leaders communicate positively about employees' organizational roles (Magbity et al., 2020). Through idealized influence, transformational leaders value and appreciate employee involvement.

Idealized influence is linked to superior communication skills. Transformational leaders enhance employee performance by relying on the communication of common values and exhibiting confidence in their employees (Yue et al., 2019). When leaders use idealized influence, they communicate with employees in a genuine, encouraging, and meaningful way, facilitating the building of trust (Hosna et al., 2021). As the relationship between leader and employee develops, transformational leaders provide employees with clear communication on achieving their goals.

Idealized influence is thought to be an effective leadership technique. Idealized influence can improve employee efficiency and reduce turnover by clearly communicating standards and goals (Labrague et al., 2020). Another facet of idealized influence is the notion that leaders serve as role models for employees by exhibiting ethical behavior (Aldrin & Yunanto, 2019). Followers tend to imitate the behavior of transformational leaders who encourage their employees and build trust by making employees feel valued (Farahnak et al., 2020). Therefore, leaders who use idealized influence develop trust with employees, facilitating an ideal working relationship while enhancing the overall quality of work.

Idealized influence can be further subdivided into two components: attribution and behavior. In the context of employment, attribution elements are how employees perceive their leaders. For example, transformational leaders are typically charismatic and aid their employees in overcoming adversity (Naseer et al., 2018). According to Mi et al. (2019), employees' ability to identify with their leaders is enhanced by idealized influence. Thus, employees are more inclined to follow leaders who exhibit idealized influence. Idealized influence also encompasses a behavioral element. Transformational leaders influence employees' behavior by leading by example so that employees directly view their leaders overcoming difficulties (Khan et al., 2020). As such, transformational leaders encourage employees to be positive about guiding and interacting with others (Yue et al., 2019). Therefore, transformational leaders use idealized influence to influence how employees perceive and improve the impact and performance of their team through attribution and behavior.

Inspirational Motivation. Inspirational motivation is the second tenet of TLT. Inspirational motivation is the extent to which a leader shares an inspirational vision that appeals to and motivates employees, promoting optimism and commitment among followers (Bass, 1985; Lee et al., 2018; McManus, 2019). Inspirational motivation reflects leadership that encourages followers to act on the vision of a shared organization, strive for high expectations, and envision a collective, desired future (Lei et al., 2020; McManus, 2019). Transformational leaders detail the group's expectations, reducing complex problems to smaller ones so that all employees can understand the larger motivating picture (Sun & Wang, 2017). This process promotes awareness of priorities

and objectives in line with followers' interests within the context of the larger organizational goals. Therefore, transformational leaders communicate the organization's expectations, motivating employees to adapt to their organization's vision (Sun & Wang, 2017). A leader's inspirational motivation allows employees to understand their role in a larger organizational vision. Therefore, inspirational motivation gives employees a unique, inspirational vision promoting motivation.

Employees who understand the organization's larger goals have an opportunity to understand how they can make a difference in achieving the organization's goals. Shah et al. (2018) stated that transformational leaders convey how each employee contributes to the future growth of an organization. By improving such foresight, employees often find their work rewarding, which reduces turnover (Barkhuizen & Gumede, 2021; Inayatullah, 2018). While all leaders may appeal to emotion to attract employees' attention, transformational leaders embody the team's spirit, increasing enthusiasm and motivation within the organization (Abou Hashish, 2017). Leaders who exude enthusiasm and commitment to the organization's goals can persuade and inspire their employees. Employees can then effectively face challenges, strive to reach goals, and exceed expectations. Therefore, transformational leaders can use inspirational motivation to motivate employees to recognize their commitment to achieving the organization and its goals.

Intellectual Stimulation. Intellectual stimulation is the third tenet of TLT.

Intellectual stimulation is the extent to which a leader takes risks, challenges assumptions, and seeks followers' ideas to encourage employee creativity (Bass, 1985).

The intellectual stimulation tenet of transformational leadership refers to how transformational leaders share knowledge and challenge followers to embody new challenges and ideas (Alqatawenah, 2018). Without fear of being admonished, workers under transformational leaders use innovative and potentially revolutionary methods to solve problems. Through intellectual stimulation, transformational leaders focus on problem-solving and encourage employees by making insightful suggestions (Park & Pierce, 2020). This process allows transformational leaders to harness their employees' imaginations and creativity to face organizational problems in new ways (Park & Pierce, 2020). Therefore, the essence of intellectual stimulation is that transformational leaders allow employees to gain experience and develop creativity and innovation while growing within the organization.

Individualized Consideration. Individualized consideration is the fourth tenet of TLT. Individualized consideration refers to how well a leader listens to each follower's concerns and needs (Bass, 1985; McManus, 2019). Individualized consideration is a significant component of TLT, as it allows leaders to listen to, promote, and support the needs of their employees by focusing on their unique needs (Chebon et al., 2019; McManus, 2019). Leaders who empower followers by providing a supportive atmosphere simultaneously treat their employees as individuals and as teammates. Kharabsheh et al. (2017) described intellectual consideration as a leader's ability to recognize differences in employees' strengths, weaknesses, and likes and dislikes by identifying and addressing individual needs in recognizable ways. Thus, individualized consideration places value on each employee's contributions within a larger organizational context.

There are several mechanisms by which transformational leaders use individualized consideration. For example, leaders who emphasize active listening and assigning employees to suitable projects use individualized consideration (Khan et al., 2020). Thus, transformational leaders promote employee development through two-way interaction. Bass (1999) stated that transformational leaders use assignments as opportunities for their followers to grow. Ultimately, transformational leaders use individualized consideration to encourage employees through coaching, listening to their needs, and providing a positive atmosphere for continued employee growth (Naseer et al., 2018). Since each employee has different characteristics, strengths, and weaknesses, transformational leaders use individualized consideration to act as coaches and mentors, aiding employees in overcoming their weaknesses and maximizing their strengths.

Application of TLT To Healthcare Management

Transformational leadership is widely acknowledged as an effective leadership style in healthcare management. Boamah et al. (2018) investigated the job satisfaction of nurses and patient safety outcomes in response to nurse managers' transformational leadership practices. Transformational leadership influences the workplace environment, increasing nurses' job satisfaction. Moreover, patient safety outcomes frequently decreased in response to nurse managers' transformational leadership. Jankelová and Joniaková (2021) found that the transformational leadership of nurse managers was positively correlated with nurses' job satisfaction and performance. Similarly, Tangatarova and Gao (2021) found that transformational leadership in a hospital setting increased patient safety outcomes. These studies indicate that leaders' use of

transformational leadership creates a positive workplace culture and increases job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes in healthcare businesses.

Transformational leadership theory has been applied to understanding employee turnover in healthcare. Yücel (2021) surveyed 478 healthcare providers, finding that transformational leaders encourage positive employee performance, which correlated with decreased turnover intentions. Magbity et al. (2020) sampled 250 nurses to assess their turnover intention and their leaders' leadership styles. Their correlation analysis indicated that participatory and transformational leadership styles decreased turnover intention, while autocratic and laissez-faire styles increased turnover intention. Thus, healthcare leaders' leadership styles influence employees' turnover intention in the healthcare industry.

Transformational leadership is widely regarded as a highly effective framework for effectively managing personnel, particularly in environments such as nursing homes, where high-quality care and empathetic communication are of utmost importance (Gonella et al., 2023). Transformational leaders possess the ability to inspire and motivate their subordinates, creating a positive work environment that has been observed to have a positive impact on reducing employee turnover rates (Poels et al., 2020). However, in contrast to transformational leadership, alternative theories exist that can be applied to the specific context of nursing home staff turnover (Taheri Gharagzlu et al., 2020).

Contrasting Theories

One contrasting theory investigated in the literature is transactional leadership (Feifer et al., 2021). Transactional leadership is characterized by a leadership style that operates within a framework of rewards and punishments (Poels et al., 2020). The individuals in question prioritize the implementation of systematic processes to guarantee the accurate and timely completion of tasks (Lee et al., 2023). However, this theory has been criticized because inadequate execution of this practice may result in a significant employee attrition rate, primarily because of the dearth of avenues for personal and professional growth, as well as the potentially retributive atmosphere (Holland et al., 2014).

An alternative approach is laissez-faire leadership, in which leaders adopt a non-interventionist approach, granting employees the autonomy to make significant decisions and independently handle their workload (Keilty et al., 2022). While promoting independence can have positive outcomes, Min et al. (2022) suggested that it is important to acknowledge that this leadership approach may also result in negative consequences, such as feelings of neglect and a lack of guidance. These factors can potentially contribute to a higher turnover rate, as employees may perceive a lack of support and uncertainty regarding their duties and obligations (Taheri Gharagzlu et al., 2020).

Similar to transactional leadership is autocratic leadership. Autocratic leadership is characterized by a decision-making approach where leaders make decisions independently, without seeking input from their team members (Wei et al., 2019). This leadership style is characterized by the strict enforcement of rules and procedures (Poels

et al., 2020). Researchers have found that the utilization of this approach has the potential to result in increased rates of employee turnover within nursing home settings, given the fundamental importance of empathy, communication, and shared decision-making in facilitating optimal caregiving outcomes (Gonella et al., 2023; Smith et al., 2023; Tasseron-Dries et al., 2021). Employees may experience a sense of undervaluation of their contributions, leading them to seek employment in a more collaborative work setting.

Servant leadership is an approach to leadership that aligns with the transformational style (Arble et al., 2020). However, in contrast to transformational leadership, servant leaders prioritize their team members' development and welfare, frequently prioritizing others' needs over their own (Poels et al., 2020). Although this particular approach has the potential to foster a nurturing atmosphere that could mitigate employee turnover, detractors contend that it may not consistently yield optimal levels of productivity or effectiveness (Arble et al., 2020). Researchers have found that insufficiently balanced with explicit expectations and accountability, this situation can result in role ambiguity and decreased efficiency, thereby generating employee dissatisfaction and a possible increase in employee attrition (Holland et al., 2014; McCreary, 2020).

Another less commonly studied leadership approach is bureaucratic leadership.

Bureaucratic leadership is characterized by leaders who adhere rigorously to established rules, procedures, and hierarchical structures (Lee et al., 2023). According to Cox (2019), a rigid structure within nursing homes may hinder staff members from effectively

adapting to the individual needs of residents, resulting in dissatisfaction among residents and potentially contributing to a high turnover rate among staff. Staff members may become frustrated due to their inability to deliver personalized and empathetic care, which may subsequently motivate them to search for more fulfilling and adaptable work environments (Connolly, 2016).

Scholars have suggested that it is imperative to acknowledge that no singular style can be deemed as superior, and successful leadership frequently entails a combination of styles customized to the particular context and group dynamics (Jungbauer et al., 2022; Taheri Gharagzlu et al., 2020). In the realm of nursing homes, many researchers have also suggested that leaders must establish an environment that fosters support, empathy, and appreciation for effective communication, ongoing education, and the provision of high-quality care (Cimarolli et al., 2022; Cox, 2019). The following section contains a synthesis of the evidence about employee turnover intentions.

Employee Turnover

Employee turnover is strongly linked to leadership quality and can be difficult and costly for an organization (Huning et al., 2020). Regardless of the reason for employee turnover, employees who voluntarily resign or are dismissed require replacement, which necessitates investing in new staff training (An, 2019). Graf et al. (2020) highlighted that training a new nurse in a nursing home environment costs at least \$15,000, a significant investment in high turnover employment. Sales, defined by Ogony and Majola (2018) as the rate at which an employer earns or loses an employee, are unique to individual organizations. Employee turnover can hinder sales (Ogony & Majola, 2018). By hiring

employees who fit their corporate culture, organizations can promote staff retention and mitigate turnover (Yusliza et al., 2021). Thus, employee turnover is costly for organizations and can hinder daily operations.

Employees leave organizations for various reasons (Kim & Park, 2017). The decision to leave the organization reflects the employee's choice to terminate the employment relationship (Dilig-Ruiz et al., 2018). Some employees retire, while others leave due to being overworked, lack of satisfactory wages, or inflexible working hours (Jain et al., 2020). Employee attrition places stress on other employees and managers until a qualified new hire can fill a vacancy (Lai et al., 2022). Therefore, employee resignation significantly affects the organization's planning and human resource strategies. Employee turnover can distinguish a company between meeting performance expectations and exhibiting poor performance (Smets et al., 2018). Thus, employee turnover is an important problem.

Employee Retention Strategies

Recent research within the domain of nursing has demonstrated that high turnover rates among nursing home staff necessitate a comprehensive and multifaceted approach (Molloy et al., 2020; Schols et al., 2020). Thus, many employee retention strategies have been investigated in the recent peer-reviewed literature, several involving the adoption of a transformational leadership style (Gandhi et al., 2021; Molloy et al., 2020; Schols et al., 2020). Transformational leadership is characterized by the ability to inspire and motivate employees towards a shared vision (Tsai et al., 2019). The establishment of a positive organizational culture, the demonstration of empathy, and the promotion of open

communication are crucial for effective leadership (Adams et al., 2019). In addition, researchers have asserted that it is imperative for individuals to endeavor towards achieving equilibrium in employing various leadership styles in order to effectively cater to the diverse requirements of the team (Adams et al., 2019; Schols et al., 2020).

According to some studies, competitive compensation is crucial for the purpose of staff retention, as it ensures that employees receive adequate remuneration and benefits (Schols et al., 2020; Tsai et al., 2019). For example, Schols et al. (2020) found that the remuneration received by numerous nursing home personnel is disproportionately low compared to the substantial emotional and physical exertions inherent in their occupation. Additionally, Tasseron-Dries et al. (2021) suggested that providing employees with competitive compensation packages, including attractive wages, comprehensive health benefits, retirement plans, and potential for bonuses or salary increases, can significantly enhance employee satisfaction and foster long-term retention (McCreary, 2020).

Career development opportunities are crucial in mitigating employee turnover by offering staff members the chance to acquire new knowledge, develop their skills, and progress in their professional trajectories based on recent evidence (Cimarolli et al., 2022). According to Purbhoo and Wojtak (2018), this may encompass providing on-the-job training, facilitating ongoing education, or establishing a well-defined trajectory for advancement within the organizational structure. The concept of work-life balance is particularly significant in nursing home employment, given the demanding and stressful nature of the work involved (Molloy et al., 2020). Organizations that place a high value on work-life balance by implementing flexible scheduling, providing sufficient time off,

and offering resources for stress management are more inclined to achieve employee retention (Agar et al., 2023).

In accordance with theories of motivation, such as self-determination theory, the provision of recognition and rewards has been found to have a positive impact on employee retention, as individuals who perceive their efforts as valued and acknowledged are more inclined to remain with the organization (Lee et al., 2023). Reliably acknowledging and compensating employees for their valuable contributions, whether through verbal commendation, accolades, or incentives, has the potential to cultivate a favorable workplace atmosphere and enhance employee motivation. This recognition has been shown to enhance employee engagement (Wei et al., 2019). Specifically, individuals who experience a sense of engagement and connection with their place of employment exhibit a decreased propensity to voluntarily separate from the organization (Wei et al., 2019). This entails ensuring that staff members perceive their voices as being acknowledged and their feedback as being duly considered (Min et al., 2022). Regular team meetings, suggestion boxes, and surveys are all mechanisms that can facilitate the cultivation of a heightened sense of engagement among individuals within an organization (Tsai et al., 2019).

A growing body of evidence has demonstrated that establishing a positive and healthy work environment holds significant importance for nurses, particularly in the context of nursing homes (Eckert et al., 2023; Keilty et al., 2022). This encompasses not solely the tangible surroundings but also the societal and affective milieu (Keilty et al., 2022). Fostering a collaborative work environment, effectively resolving conflicts

through constructive means, and cultivating a culture of mutual respect are all factors that can positively impact employee retention (Adams et al., 2019).

The maintenance of appropriate staffing levels is also crucial, according to Miller et al. (2023). Overworking employees due to inadequate staffing levels can result in burnout and job dissatisfaction, ultimately contributing to elevated employee turnover rates (McCreary, 2020). By implementing appropriate staffing measures, nursing homes have the potential to mitigate stress and job dissatisfaction experienced by their workforce (Cox, 2019).

Any of these strategies has the potential to make a positive impact on mitigating turnover rates among nursing home personnel (McCreary, 2020). Nevertheless, McCreary (2020) and Nambisan et al. (2021) argue that it is imperative to customize strategies in accordance with the distinct requirements and obstacles encountered by each establishment. Studies have shown that regular assessments and feedback provided by staff members can play a crucial role in identifying areas that require improvement and guiding the implementation of effective strategies for student retention (Cosolo et al., 2023; Schols et al., 2020). The following section contains a synthesis of leadership strategies that have been employed to prevent employee turnover.

Leadership Strategies for Preventing Employee Turnover

Multiple recent studies have indicated that leadership is of utmost importance in mitigating staff turnover within nursing home facilities (Cimarolli et al., 2022; Miller et al., 2023). Scholars assert that it is imperative for leaders operating in such contexts to implement strategies that effectively oversee and motivate their workforce, fostering a

sense of inspiration and active involvement (Gandhi et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2023). One of the most vital ways leaders can do so is by establishing trust and transparency (Tsai et al., 2019). Rajamohan et al. (2019) found that trust is pivotal in fostering effective work relationships. Additionally, Gonella et al. (2023) suggested that leaders should exhibit openness, honesty, and transparency when communicating with their subordinates, ensuring that the organization's difficulties and achievements are shared. In addition, researchers have argued that it is imperative for individuals to demonstrate integrity by consistently aligning their verbal expressions with their behavioral conduct (Jones et al., 2020; Taheri Gharagzlu et al., 2020).

Recognition is one way that leaders can potentially enhance engagement without expending unavailable or constrained budgetary resources (Tsai et al., 2019). According to Tsai et al. (2019), to cultivate a culture of recognition, leaders must consistently acknowledge and appreciate the efforts and achievements of their employees. This can be achieved by implementing formal recognition programs or through regular interpersonal interactions and constructive feedback (De Kerimel et al., 2020). Research has shown that employees who perceive themselves as being recognized and valued by their organization are more inclined to maintain a high commitment to their jobs (Grodal et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2023). Additionally, facilitating team collaboration has enhanced engagement and potentially contributed to retention (Miller et al., 2023). Arble et al. (2020) argued that proficient leaders foster an environment that promotes collective effort and collaboration among team members. It is widely acknowledged in the literature that providing high-quality care in a nursing home setting necessitates a collaborative

approach by multiple individuals (Taheri Gharagzlu et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2017). When leaders cultivate a conducive team atmosphere, employees will experience heightened connectivity and increased engagement in their professional tasks.

According to a qualitative, descriptive study involving factors contributing to resilience among nursing home staff, Wei et al. (2019) suggested that leaders must provide support and foster an environment that encourages professional development and facilitates career growth. Organizations can enhance job satisfaction and mitigate employee turnover by providing continuous training opportunities, organizing workshops, implementing educational programs, and prioritizing internal promotions when feasible (Arble et al., 2020). Thus, the implementation of a mentoring program can be beneficial in fostering professional growth and development among staff members (De Kerimel et al., 2020). By pairing individuals who are newer or less experienced with seasoned professionals, the program has the potential to enhance skills, boost confidence, and cultivate a supportive work culture (Adams et al., 2019). Additionally, doing so has been shown to facilitate assimilating new members into the team (Nambisan et al., 2021).

According to Tsai et al. (2019), leaders are responsible for ensuring that their staff members are equipped with the essential resources required to carry out their job responsibilities efficiently. This may encompass factors such as appropriate personnel allocation, modernized equipment, or sufficient provision of personal protective gear. Furthermore, Van Waeyenberg et al. (2015) suggested that it is imperative for leaders to provide emotional support and allocate resources, considering the emotionally demanding nature of nursing home employment. Recent studies have shown that effective leaders

actively seek and respond to employee feedback (Nambisan et al., 2021; Tasseron-Dries et al., 2021). For example, in a qualitative study involving factors contributing to engagement among nursing home staff, Tasseron-Dries et al. (2021) found that consistently seeking feedback and, of equal importance, implementing the suggestions received can serve as evidence to employees that their opinions hold significance, thereby enhancing their level of engagement and overall job satisfaction.

A more recent trend to emerge in the literature involves developing emotional intelligence (Cox, 2019; Wei et al., 2019). According to Wei et al. (2019), leaders within the context of nursing homes frequently encounter emotionally charged circumstances. Demonstrating empathy, comprehension, and tolerance can contribute to the establishment of a work environment characterized by feelings of security and encouragement, thereby diminishing the probability of employee turnover (Miller et al., 2023; Taheri Gharagzlu et al., 2020). Emotional intelligence may also foster a greater sense of equity for staff (Feifer et al., 2021). Feifer et al. (2021) found that leaders must exhibit equitable and consistent treatment toward all members of their staff. The presence of favoritism, bias, or inconsistent enforcement of rules within a workplace can contribute to developing a toxic work environment, ultimately resulting in a higher rate of employee turnover (Miller et al., 2023).

Through the implementation of various leadership strategies, leaders in nursing homes can establish a work environment that is supportive, engaging, and rewarding, thereby fostering staff retention (Noguchi-Watanabe et al., 2016). Nevertheless, scholars agree that it is imperative for leaders to maintain adaptability, making adjustments to

their strategies as required to effectively align with the specific characteristics of their team and the prevailing circumstances (Min et al., 2022; Tsai et al., 2019). The following section contains a synthesis of the literature pertaining to staff responses to leadership.

Staff Responses to Leadership

Recent quantitative and qualitative evidence has demonstrated that the manner in which nursing home staff members respond to leadership can have a significant influence on the efficacy of retention strategies (Arble et al., 2020; Noguchi-Watanabe et al., 2016; Van Waeyenberg et al., 2015). According to Smith et al. (2023), leaders can evaluate the effectiveness of their strategies and implement necessary modifications based on these responses. Studies within the context of nursing have demonstrated that staff members generally exhibit a favorable response when they receive support from their leaders (Keilty et al., 2022; Taheri Gharagzlu et al., 2020). For example, Taheri Gharagzlu et al. (2020) found that when leaders exhibit qualities of support and understanding, employees are more likely to perceive themselves as being valued and respected. This positive perception can contribute to higher levels of job satisfaction, ultimately leading to increased employee retention rates.

Staff members also typically value the acknowledgment of their efforts (Jungbauer et al., 2022). Acknowledging achievements can enhance employee morale and foster a more favorable work atmosphere, resulting in heightened job contentment and reduced employee turnover (Gandhi et al., 2021). Providing support and opportunities for career development is a source of motivation and inspiration (Purbhoo & Wojtak, 2018). Purbhoo and Wojtak (2018) found that when leaders offer

opportunities for professional growth and development, it often catalyzes staff members, fostering encouragement and motivation to enhance their skill sets. Not only does this improve their job performance, but it can also result in higher job satisfaction and a greater probability of employee retention.

Additionally, the provision of sufficient resources can lead to a sense of relief and reduced stress among staff members, as they are able to perform their job duties with greater effectiveness (Williams et al., 2017). According to a quantitative, cross-sectional study by Poels et al. (2020), if leaders are able to furnish these resources and guarantee sufficient staffing levels, it has the potential to mitigate burnout and reduce employee turnover. Recent evidence also suggests that motivation can be derived from equitable treatment (Miller et al., 2023). Specifically, the provision of fair and consistent treatment by leaders toward all staff members fosters a perception of justice and equality within the organizational setting (Akunor et al., 2022). Implementing this strategy can serve as a source of motivation for employees, thereby contributing to the improvement of job satisfaction levels and ultimately leading to a higher probability of employee retention.

One recent study by Wei et al. (2019) also showed that implementing feedback can lead to empowerment. Specifically, when leaders actively seek feedback and subsequently take action based on it, employees are likely to experience a sense of being heard and empowered (Tsai et al., 2019). This can cultivate a more interactive and stimulating work milieu, leading to enhanced job contentment and bolstering employee retention rates (Noguchi-Watanabe et al., 2016).

Nevertheless, researchers have also asserted that it is imperative to acknowledge potential adverse reactions (Feifer et al., 2021; Tappen & Sopcheck, 2023). For example, some studies have shown that distrust can arise from insufficient transparency. In a retrospective, cross-sectional study involving the COVID-19 vaccine in nursing homes, Feifer et al. (2021) found that trust and transparency of nursing staff were significant predictors of vaccine acceptance among ethnic minority residents. Therefore, in the event that organizational leaders fail to exhibit openness and transparency, a consequential outcome may be the emergence of distrust and suspicion among employees, thereby exerting a detrimental influence on morale and augmenting the probability of employee turnover (Arble et al., 2020). Similarly, the lack of adequate support from leaders has been shown to result in frustration among staff members, stemming from insufficient provision of resources or emotional assistance (Lee et al., 2023). This frustration and dissatisfaction may subsequently contribute to increased rates of employee turnover.

The absence of recognition can also be a source of demotivation for nursing home staff (Omotowa & Hussey, 2019). Lee et al. (2023) found that if leaders fail to acknowledge and express appreciation for the efforts of their staff, it can result in a sense of being undervalued and unappreciated. Consequently, this can lead to decreased staff motivation and an elevated probability of turnover (Miller et al., 2023). Therefore, continuous monitoring and evaluation of staff responses to strategies is of utmost importance for leaders (Jungbauer et al., 2022). Through this approach, organizations can implement essential modifications to effectively provide support and foster engagement among their employees, thereby mitigating turnover rates (Feifer et al., 2021).

Measuring Staff Responses to Leadership

In order to evaluate the efficacy of strategies implemented by nursing home administrators in fostering staff retention, researchers have suggested that it is imperative to measure the responses of the staff members (Cox, 2019; Omotowa & Hussey, 2019). Several strategies have been employed in the recent literature to assess and quantify these responses (Arble et al., 2020; Cosolo et al., 2023; Smith et al., 2023). For example, employee surveys are a widely employed approach for assessing staff reactions, particularly in terms of employee satisfaction or engagement (Smith et al., 2023). These surveys can be formulated with the purpose of collecting data regarding employees' emotions and perspectives concerning different aspects associated with employee retention, including support from leadership, acknowledgment, prospects for professional growth, available resources, and equity within the work environment (Feifer et al., 2021).

Several studies have also found that focus groups can provide rich sources of data involving factors contributing to retention versus attrition (Holland et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2023; Wei et al., 2019). Focus groups are a qualitative research method that enables a limited number of individuals to participate in a guided conversation regarding their personal experiences and perceptions (Akunor et al., 2022). This methodology has the potential to yield comprehensive qualitative data regarding the reactions of staff members toward various leadership strategies, thereby uncovering valuable insights that may not be captured through a conventional survey approach (Tappen & Sopcheck, 2023). Similarly, Tsai et al. (2019) found that exit interviews are a valuable means of obtaining insights into the reasons behind staff members' decisions to depart from an organization.

By inquiring about individuals' encounters with leadership and retention strategies, leaders can acquire valuable insights regarding the efficacy of these strategies and identify potential modifications that could enhance retention rates.

Regularly scheduled individual interviews conducted between employees and their direct supervisors can yield valuable data based on recent evidence (Eckert et al., 2023; Otte et al., 2020). Specifically, Otte et al. (2020) conducted a qualitative interview study assessing the role that regularly scheduled staff meetings played, demonstrating that nursing home staff perceived them as critical for facilitating integration and interdisciplinary collaboration. These meetings allow staff members to articulate their perspectives and emotions regarding their work environment, leadership, and the strategies employed to enhance employee retention (Fraser et al., 2019). Within the context of performance reviews, organizational leaders can inquire about various aspects such as job satisfaction, leadership effectiveness, and strategies for employee retention (Omotowa & Hussey, 2019). The insights gained from employees' responses can offer valuable information regarding the effectiveness of these strategies and potential areas for improvement.

Furthermore, Keilty et al. (2022) asserted that direct observations can yield valuable insights into how staff members respond to various leadership strategies.

Additionally, through the process of observing the interactions between staff members and their leaders, leaders can assess the collective morale and satisfaction levels within their teams (Cosolo et al., 2023). The measurement of employee turnover rates can indirectly indicate the efficacy of retention strategies, although it does not directly

capture staff responses (Miller et al., 2023). A potential indication of the effectiveness of certain strategies can be observed if there is a decrease in turnover rates after their implementation.

Based on these findings, scholars are generally in agreement that it is imperative to acknowledge that utilizing these strategies tends to yield the most valuable insights when employed collectively (Arble et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2023). Furthermore, they argue that it is imperative to conduct a meticulous analysis and interpretation of any data gathered, taking into account the unique circumstances of the nursing home and its personnel (Smith et al., 2023; Tappen & Sopcheck, 2023). Frequently evaluating and modifying strategies in response to feedback from staff members can be instrumental in enabling nursing home leaders to enhance retention effectively (Omotowa & Hussey, 2019). The following section contains a synthesis of the evidence pertaining to factors influencing attrition among nursing home staff.

Factors Influencing Employees' Intention to Attrite

Several recent studies have shown that the attrition or turnover of nursing home staff can be influenced by a multitude of factors (Adams et al., 2019; Arble et al., 2020; Holland et al., 2014). For example, Adams et al. (2019) assessed factors contributing to turnover among 30 nursing home staff, finding that a combination of work-related, personal, and environmental determinants all combined to predict turnover, and these relationships were strongly mediated by whether or not staff experienced burnout. Therefore, comprehending these factors is imperative in formulating efficacious strategies to enhance employee retention. Based on the recent evidence, a multitude of

pivotal factors possess the potential to exert influence on the intention of nursing home employees to depart from their current positions (Arble et al., 2020; Min et al., 2022).

One consistent theme to emerge in the literature is that the level of job satisfaction an employee has is a significant factor in predicting their intention to leave their current job (Lee, 2022; Rajamohan et al., 2019). Specifically, studies have shown that employees who experience dissatisfaction with their jobs, perceive a lack of recognition, or perceive their jobs as excessively demanding or emotionally burdensome are more inclined to contemplate voluntary turnover (Lee, 2022; Rolland & de Souto Barreto, 2022). Researchers have identified that various factors can have an impact on an individual's level of job satisfaction, such as the amount of work assigned, the emotional requirements of the job, the ability to maintain a healthy work-life balance, the availability of opportunities for professional growth, and the extent to which one's efforts are acknowledged and appreciated (Agar et al., 2023; Purbhoo & Wojtak, 2018).

A commonly overlooked factor involving attrition that has been identified in the literature is the work environment (Feifer et al., 2021). According to Min et al. (2022), the work environment plays a crucial role in shaping employees' intention to leave the organization, with a negative work environment having a substantial impact on attrition rates. This encompasses both physical conditions, such as insufficient facilities or resources, and social conditions, such as ineffective collaboration, absence of support from peers or superiors, or a hostile organizational climate (Fraser et al., 2019). Similarly, Wei et al. (2019) found that the turnover intentions of individuals within an organization can be significantly influenced by the leadership style employed. Therefore, leaders who

lack supportiveness, effective communication skills, or inclusivity in decision-making processes can potentially contribute to job dissatisfaction and an elevated intention to leave the organization (Gonella et al., 2023).

Intuitively, insufficient remuneration for the tasks performed may prompt employees to contemplate resigning from their positions (Miller et al., 2023). This encompasses not solely the remuneration but also the supplementary perks such as medical coverage, pension schemes, and allocated periods of leave (Tsai et al., 2019). Additionally, the absence of career advancement prospects or inadequate avenues for professional growth can contribute to an individual's inclination to leave their current employment (Cox, 2019). Employees may choose to depart in order to pursue opportunities that allow for professional growth, the acquisition of new skills, or the assumption of greater responsibilities (Purbhoo & Wojtak, 2018).

Many studies have demonstrated that the presence of high workloads, frequently resulting from insufficient staffing, has the potential to contribute to job-related stress, burnout, and subsequently, heightened intentions to leave one's position (J. Lee, 2022; Min et al., 2022; Rajamohan et al., 2019). Burnout, a persistent state of physical and emotional exhaustion, commonly referred to as burnout, poses a substantial concern within the healthcare field (Rajamohan et al., 2019). The demanding and emotionally taxing nature of nursing home employment has the potential to induce burnout, resulting in heightened intentions to leave the job (Min et al., 2022). Therefore, work-life balance is a significant factor that may influence an employee's decision to leave their current employment if they encounter difficulties in effectively managing their professional

responsibilities alongside their personal commitments (Grodal et al., 2019). The aforementioned variables, such as scheduling, workload, and emotional demands, can potentially influence this phenomenon.

To tackle these factors effectively, a comprehensive approach is necessary (Williams et al., 2017). According to Tappen and Sopcheck (2023), nursing home administrators should prioritize establishing conducive and affirmative work environments, offering competitive remuneration, fostering professional growth, ensuring adequate staffing levels, and facilitating work-life equilibrium (Omotowa & Hussey, 2020). By implementing this strategy, organizations can effectively mitigate turnover intentions and enhance employee retention rates (Grodal et al., 2019). The following section contains a synthesis of the evidence pertaining to the maintenance of care quality in nursing homes.

Strategies for Managing Quality Care in Nursing Homes

Ensuring the provision of exceptional care in nursing homes is of utmost significance, as it directly influences the physical and mental welfare of the residents (Arble et al., 2020). Various strategies have been employed or supported in the literature to ensure the provision of high-quality care (Connolly, 2016; Lefebre et al., 2020). One of the most important is staff training and development (Lefebre et al., 2020). According to De Kerimel et al. (2020), the training and development of staff members play a critical role in ensuring the provision of high-quality care. De Kerimel et al. (2020) recommended that staff members receive regular training programs that concentrate on various aspects, including managing specific health conditions, behavioral strategies, and

cultural sensitivity (Omotowa & Hussey, 2020). Thus, professional development opportunities have the potential to enhance staff performance and augment their job satisfaction.

Furthermore, insufficient staffing can lead to a decline in the quality of care, as personnel may be unable to allocate adequate time to address the needs of all residents effectively (Smith et al., 2023). According to Miller et al. (2023), ensuring adequate staffing levels is crucial in guaranteeing that residents receive care that is both timely and tailored to their individual needs. Additionally, an increasing body of evidence has found support for implementing a person-centered approach to maximize well-being and job satisfaction (Arble et al., 2020). This approach demonstrates a profound regard for and appreciation of every resident's unique qualities and characteristics (Agar et al., 2023). The process entails acquiring knowledge regarding each resident's preferences, strengths, and life history and subsequently customizing care plans to address their individual requirements, thereby augmenting their overall quality of life.

According to Jungbauer et al. (2022) and Wei et al. (2019), regular assessments and quality checks should be implemented to evaluate the standard of care being delivered. This may entail the examination of medical records, the observation of interactions between staff and residents, and the assessment of the facility's cleanliness and safety (Connolly, 2016). The utilization of feedback obtained from these assessments should be employed continuously to enhance the quality of care provided (H.-T. S. Lee et al., 2023).

A more recent trend to emerge in the literature pertains to promoting family engagement (Jung & Oh, 2018; Tsai et al., 2019). Studies have shown that the involvement of families can offer significant contributions to understanding the needs and preferences of residents (Lefebre et al., 2020; Tappen & Sopcheck, 2023).

Additionally, maintaining consistent communication with families and actively promoting their engagement in the care planning process has the potential to improve the overall quality of care delivered to residents (Lee et al., 2023). In a qualitative, phenomenological study by Gonella et al. (2023), the authors found that promoting family engagement contributes to a healthier living environment. Specifically, establishing a secure, hygienic, and pleasant living environment is imperative for the overall welfare of its inhabitants (Jung & Oh, 2018). Ensuring routine maintenance inspections, strict compliance with health and safety protocols, and cultivating a comfortable and inviting atmosphere are factors that can positively impact the provision of high-quality care (Feifer et al., 2021).

One recent study showed that the utilization of technology has the potential to augment the quality of care in various manners. Specifically, Edelman et al. (2020) found that technological resources in nursing home facilities significantly mitigated the negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on care delivery. For instance, implementing electronic health records facilitates improved health information management (Edelman et al., 2020). Additionally, telehealth services enable remote consultations, thereby enhancing accessibility to healthcare (Ibrahim et al., 2019). Moreover, the integration of assistive devices assists residents in their daily activities.

Evidence also suggests that the presence of effective leadership is crucial in ensuring the provision of high-quality care (Keilty et al., 2022). According to Fraser et al. (2019), leadership should play a crucial role in fostering a culture that prioritizes the well-being and satisfaction of residents. Fraser et al. (2019) argued that this entails promoting a positive atmosphere and providing inspiration and support to the staff. Additionally, Arble et al. (2020) argued that leaders must proactively tackle any challenges or concerns that may arise within the organization. Furthermore, implementing evidence-based practices is crucial in ensuring that care practices align with the most current research findings and guidelines (Grodal et al., 2019). Implementing frequent updates to care protocols and practices in accordance with current evidence has the potential to enhance the quality of care provided (Lefebre et al., 2020).

While implementing these strategies has the potential to improve the standard of care in nursing homes significantly, it is crucial to bear in mind that each nursing home possesses distinct characteristics and circumstances (Otte et al., 2020). Hence, researchers agree that it is imperative to customize strategies following the distinct requirements, available resources, and contextual factors of individual facilities (Cosolo et al., 2023; Lefebre et al., 2020). Cosolo et al. (2023) argued that the ongoing assessment and adjustment of these strategies will guarantee their continued efficacy in facilitating the provision of high-quality care. The following sub-section contains a discussion of strategies to measure care quality.

Strategies to Measure Quality

Multiple studies have found that the assessment of care quality in nursing homes is of utmost importance to identify areas of excellence and areas that require improvement (Eckert et al., 2023; Min et al., 2022). According to Eckert et al. (2023), doing so serves as a means to monitor the efficacy of interventions that have been put into place. A multitude of strategies exist that can be employed to assess the quality of care (Edelman et al., 2020; Jungbauer et al., 2022). Standardized assessments, such as the Minimum Data Set (MDS) utilized in nursing homes, serve as valuable instruments for evaluating various dimensions of care, including but not limited to physical and cognitive functioning, behavioral patterns, health conditions, and the provision of services (Cox, 2019). These assessments have the potential to yield valuable data regarding the quality of care that is being delivered.

Additionally, quality indicators (QIs) are quantifiable metrics used to assess health outcomes, serving as indicators of the quality of healthcare provided (Edelman et al., 2020). Illustrative instances within the context of a nursing home facility may encompass occurrences such as the prevalence of pressure ulcers, incidents of falls, rates of hospital readmissions, or utilization of physical restraints (Lefebre et al., 2020). Similarly, clinical audits have been proven in the evidence base to be a valuable tool for ensuring that clinical practices follow evidence-based guidelines and standards (Lee et al., 2023; Tappen & Sopcheck, 2023). This may encompass the examination of medical records, the observation of care practices, or the assessment of medication management systems.

Resident and family surveys have been increasingly investigated in the literature as a means of measuring care quality as well (Connolly, 2016; Cox, 2019). According to Cox (2019), surveys are a valuable tool for collecting feedback from residents and their families regarding their experiences and levels of satisfaction with the care they receive. The surveys have the potential to encompass inquiries about the nature of interactions between staff members and residents, the overall quality of the living environment, as well as the standard of meals provided (Edelman et al., 2020). Similarly, staff surveys and interviews are valuable tools for gathering feedback from staff members, which can offer significant insights into the overall quality of care being provided (Akunor et al., 2022). Surveys or interviews may inquire about the staff's perceptions regarding the work environment, their capacity to deliver high-quality care, or any areas they identify as potential areas for improvement.

Accreditation programs for nursing homes are implemented in numerous countries as well (Wei et al., 2019). These encompass thorough evaluations conducted by external entities, which assess a range of factors, including care protocols, organizational management, safety measures, and the rights of residents (Grodal et al., 2019). Accordingly, using technology in healthcare settings, such as electronic health records, enables the monitoring and analysis of diverse facets of patient care (Ibrahim et al., 2019). For instance, Ibrahim et al. (2019) argued that they can be utilized to monitor alterations in the health condition of individuals, oversee the utilization of medications, or detect patterns in health results.

Although these strategies can yield valuable data regarding the quality of care, it is crucial to interpret such data considering the unique contextual factors of the nursing home (Edelman et al., 2020). Furthermore, researchers have suggested that it is imperative to utilize these measures not only to ensure accountability but also to facilitate ongoing enhancements in quality (Rolland & de Souto Barreto, 2022; Tsai et al., 2019). Regular evaluation and adjustment of measurement strategies can guarantee their ongoing effectiveness in assessing the quality of care and facilitating enhancements (Lee et al., 2023). The following sub-section contains a discussion of strategies for monitoring care quality.

Strategies to Monitor Quality Care

The process of monitoring the quality of care in nursing homes entails continuous evaluation and examination of diverse quality indicators, procedures, and results to guarantee consistent adherence to elevated standards (Smith et al., 2023). Researchers have found that continuous evaluation facilitates the identification of potential concerns, allowing for their timely resolution (Rolland & de Souto Barreto, 2022; Smith et al., 2023). According to Tappen and Sopcheck (2023), regular audits play a crucial role in the oversight and evaluation of the quality of care provided. Specifically, conducting routine audits on diverse facets of care, including medication administration, facility cleanliness and safety, and adherence to care plans, can effectively detect potential issues and pinpoint areas that require improvement (Tappen & Sopcheck, 2023).

As mentioned previously, quality indicators are also a means of obtaining quantifiable and objective information regarding the standard of care being provided

(Arble et al., 2020). This may encompass metrics such as fall rates, incidence of pressure ulcers, rates of hospital readmissions, or utilization of physical restraints (Feifer et al., 2021). Researchers have found that consistently monitoring these indicators can aid in identifying potential issues and assessing the efficacy of interventions (Tsai et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2019).

Additionally, Min et al. (2022) argued that regular assessments of residents' health and well-being are crucial in monitoring the quality of care provided to them. In the realm of nursing homes, the MDS is a tool that offers significant insights into the physical and cognitive capabilities, behaviors, health statuses, and services availed by residents (Lee et al., 2023; Tasseron-Dries et al., 2021). Furthermore, the feedback provided by staff members is of utmost importance as they are the primary caregivers, and their insights can offer valuable information regarding the standard of care being provided (Tsai et al., 2019). According to Tsai et al. (2019), regular staff meetings or anonymous surveys can serve as effective mechanisms for facilitating open communication among staff members, enabling them to express their observations and concerns in a supportive and confidential environment.

Connolly (2016) suggested that regularly obtaining feedback from residents and their families can yield valuable insights regarding their experiences and level of satisfaction with the care they receive. This objective can be accomplished by employing various methods such as conducting surveys, organizing family meetings, implementing suggestion boxes, or engaging in individualized one-on-one conversations (Grodal et al., 2019). Additionally, the utilization of technology in healthcare encompasses the

implementation of electronic health records and other health information technologies (Ibrahim et al., 2019). These tools serve the purpose of monitoring diverse facets of care, including but not limited to alterations in residents' health status, medication administration, and patterns in health outcomes. Finally, accreditation programs for nursing homes are implemented in numerous countries and have been linked to effective outcomes (Molloy et al., 2020; Rajamohan et al., 2019). These encompass thorough evaluations conducted by external entities, and the maintenance of accreditation necessitates continuous monitoring and enhancement of the quality of care (Cox, 2019).

While these strategies have the potential to yield valuable data for the purpose of monitoring the quality of care, researchers have suggested that it is crucial to bear in mind that the objective is not solely to detect issues but also to utilize this data in order to facilitate ongoing improvements in quality (Miller et al., 2023; Rolland & de Souto Barreto, 2022). Hence, scholars argue that it is imperative to promptly and effectively address any identified issues through the implementation of these monitoring strategies while also conducting regular reviews to ensure the sustained maintenance of improvements (Arble et al., 2020; Jungbauer et al., 2022). The following section contains a discussion of strategies to reduce costs associated with employee turnover.

Strategies to Reduce Costs Associated with Employee Turnover

Employee turnover is a significant financial burden for nursing homes, and it can adversely affect the organization's fiscal aspects and the standard of care delivered (Cimarolli et al., 2022). The primary focus of cost reduction strategies is enhancing employee retention (Fan et al., 2022). Investing in employee satisfaction can potentially

result in heightened levels of staff retention (Gandhi et al., 2021). According to Gandhi et al. (2021), this may encompass enhancing labor conditions, delivering competitive remuneration, furnishing benefits such as healthcare coverage or pension schemes, and establishing a work environment that fosters support and respect.

Studies have also shown that providing professional development and training opportunities can enhance job satisfaction and foster organizational loyalty among staff members (Cox, 2019; McCreary, 2020). Potential strategies for improving employee development within an organization encompass a range of approaches, such as the implementation of in-house training programs, the provision of financial support for external courses, or the establishment of well-defined career progression opportunities (De Kerimel et al., 2020; Jungbauer et al., 2022; Tsai et al., 2019).

According to recent evidence, the presence of leaders is of utmost importance in maintaining staff retention (Fan et al., 2022; Smith et al., 2023). Fan et al. (2022) argued that effective leadership strategies should prioritize cultivating a supportive and communicative environment, actively engaging staff in the decision-making process, and demonstrating recognition and appreciation for their diligent efforts. Additionally, the occurrence of excessive work and burnout can result in a significant rate of employee turnover (Smith et al., 2023). The prevention of burnout and enhancement of retention can be achieved by implementing various measures, such as maintaining suitable staffing levels, providing flexible scheduling options, and adopting effective workload management strategies (Jungbauer et al., 2022).

One recent study demonstrated that the implementation of effective hiring strategies can contribute to a reduction in employee turnover rates (Gandhi et al., 2021). Specifically, Gandhi et al. (2021) found that transparency and equity regarding hiring practices significantly predicted long-term retention across United States nursing home facilities. This may entail enhancing recruitment procedures to ascertain the suitability of candidates for both the position and the organization, offering accurate job previews throughout the hiring process, and establishing efficient onboarding initiatives (Tasseron-Dries et al., 2021). Additionally, the act of fostering employee engagement has the potential to enhance the level of dedication exhibited by employees towards the organization (Jungbauer et al., 2022). This may encompass implementing routine teambuilding exercises, establishing platforms for staff members to actively contribute their ideas and feedback, or introducing programs aimed at recognizing and appreciating employees. According to Tasseron-Dries et al. (2021), exit interviews are also valuable for gathering insights into the reasons behind staff departures and identifying potential improvements to enhance employee retention.

However, while the aforementioned strategies have the potential to mitigate expenses related to turnover, researchers suggest that it is crucial to acknowledge that the reduction of turnover generally necessitates initial investments, such as the provision of staff training or the enhancement of working conditions (Cimarolli et al., 2022; Rolland & de Souto Barreto, 2022). Nevertheless, over an extended period, these investments have the potential to yield significant cost reductions by mitigating the exorbitant expenses linked to employee turnover (Fan et al., 2022). These expenses encompass

recruitment and training costs for newly hired personnel, overtime compensation for existing staff, and the potential decline in care quality due to the instability caused by frequent changes in staffing (Jones et al., 2020).

Influence of Cost Reduction on Quality of Care

The reduction of costs is a crucial factor for numerous nursing homes, as they face substantial operational expenses in delivering care (Wei et al., 2019). Nevertheless, researchers have found that it is crucial to guarantee that endeavors to decrease costs do not have an adverse effect on the caliber of care delivered to individuals (Min et al., 2022). There are multiple ways in which the reduction of costs can impact the quality of care that have been identified in the literature (Tsai et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2019). For example, a frequently identified area for cost reduction is allocating personnel resources (Feifer et al., 2021; Tsai et al., 2019). Nevertheless, downsizing the workforce as a means of cost-cutting may inadvertently impose heavier workloads on the remaining employees, thereby increasing the likelihood of burnout and compromising the quality of care provided (Jones et al., 2020). Moreover, if the remuneration of staff members is insufficient, difficulties may arise in both attracting and retaining competent personnel, thereby potentially exerting a detrimental influence on the quality of care provided.

The allocation of funds for staff training and development may be constrained due to budgetary reductions (Smith et al., 2023). Nevertheless, the consistent provision of training is imperative in order to uphold exemplary levels of care and ensure that personnel remain well-informed regarding the most current and optimal methodologies (Jones et al., 2020). The allocation of resources for maintaining facilities and equipment

may be constrained due to cost-reduction initiatives (Tasseron-Dries et al., 2021). The safety and quality of care can be adversely affected by inadequately maintained facilities or obsolete equipment.

In order to mitigate expenses, certain nursing homes may opt to restrict the range of services they offer (Lee et al., 2023). Nevertheless, the potential consequences of this situation on the well-being and general health of the inhabitants should not be overlooked, especially in cases where essential services like physical therapy, social engagement, or mental health assistance experience a decline (Arble et al., 2020). Managing supply resources can result in cost reductions that may result in a scarcity of crucial supplies, including personal protective equipment, medications, and nutritional food supplies (Arble et al., 2020). This scarcity can have a detrimental impact on the overall quality of care provided.

Outsourcing services is a strategic approach organizations employ to achieve cost savings by delegating certain functions, such as cleaning or catering, to external service providers (Jungbauer et al., 2022). Although cost savings can be achieved through outsourcing, there is a potential risk of diminished service quality if the contracted providers fail to meet the nursing home's established standards (Arble et al., 2020). In the context of elder care, cost reduction is frequently imperative due to financial constraints (Jones et al., 2020). However, it is of utmost importance to carefully assess the potential consequences on the quality of care provided. According to recent evidence, it is advisable to prioritize cost savings in domains that do not directly impact the provision of care to residents (Lee et al., 2023; Tasseron-Dries et al., 2021). Tasseron-Dries et al.

(2021) argued that this can be achieved by enhancing operational efficiency or minimizing administrative expenses. Moreover, allocating resources towards specific domains, such as enhancing staff training or upgrading facilities, can enhance long-term efficiency and the quality of care, consequently leading to financial benefits through cost reduction (Min et al., 2022). Therefore, researchers have suggested that it is imperative to achieve a harmonious equilibrium between the reduction of costs and the preservation of care quality (Cox, 2019; Wei et al., 2019). The following section contains a discussion of gaps in the literature, leading to the justification for the study.

Gaps in the Literature and Rationale for the Study

Although considerable research has been conducted on the topic of staff turnover in nursing homes, there remain notable gaps in the existing literature that necessitate further investigation, particularly with regard to the examination of leadership strategies. For example, the current body of research on staff turnover in nursing homes predominantly consists of quantitative studies that offer comprehensive summaries and establish general associations (Otte et al., 2020; Rolland & de Souto Barreto, 2022). Insufficient contextualized insights are available that thoroughly examine the distinct circumstances, challenges, and cultural dynamics encountered within specific nursing home settings. Additionally, numerous scholarly investigations primarily concentrate on management perspectives or quantitative metrics, frequently disregarding the profound and intricate insights that could be acquired from staff perspectives (Miller et al., 2023; Molloy et al., 2020). Further investigation is required to gain a comprehensive

understanding of the experiences encountered by nursing home staff and the various factors that impact their choices to remain in or depart from their positions.

The significance of leadership in staff retention has been established through research (Molloy et al., 2020; Poels et al., 2020). However, there is a dearth of comprehensive qualitative analysis regarding the specific leadership strategies that effectively mitigate turnover rates in nursing homes. The implementation, reception, and perception of these strategies among staff members have not been thoroughly investigated. Qualitative research offers a comprehensive understanding of the intricate dynamics surrounding staff turnover, revealing underlying factors and motivations that may be overlooked by quantitative studies. Qualitative research facilitates the comprehension of the particular circumstances in which turnover transpires, encompassing cultural, social, and institutional elements distinct to each nursing home (Cimarolli et al., 2022).

Qualitative research methods, such as interviews or focus groups, can generate comprehensive data regarding the perceptions, experiences, and interactions of staff members (Akunor et al., 2022). This can offer valuable insights into their understanding and reactions towards various leadership strategies. A qualitative study can comprehensively examine leadership practices, focusing on their implementation and their impact on staff satisfaction, morale, and turnover (Fan et al., 2022). The utilization of qualitative research findings can contribute to the formulation of contextually appropriate strategies aimed at enhancing leadership effectiveness and mitigating staff turnover. In general, conducting a qualitative study that specifically examines leadership

strategies aimed at mitigating staff turnover in nursing homes has the potential to address significant knowledge gaps within the existing literature. This study has the capacity to offer in-depth and contextually relevant insights that can contribute to the development of effective practices and policies in this field.

Transition

This section contains a review of the literature related to key variables and constructs of interest. An introduction to the search process was presented first, followed by the theoretical framework underpinning this study. Key themes and trends in the literature pertaining to employee retention versus turnover within the context of nursing home staff were then presented, and the recent evidence related to these topics was synthesized. Gaps in the literature were then discussed, such as the limited number of qualitative studies specifically pertaining to nursing home staff turnover versus retention, leading to the rationale and justification for the study. This concludes the literature review. Section 2 contains a description of the methodology to be employed in the study. Section 3 includes a presentation of the study's results and includes a discussion of the implications of the study, recommendations for practice, and implications for positive social change.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 1, I described the problem and purpose of the study, which were devised by examining the academic literature to identify a gap in the literature. Section 2 includes an overview of the project. The purpose statement is restated, followed by an identification of the role of the researcher. The research participants, method, design, population, and sampling are described. An overview of how this study will be conducted ethically is then provided. A description of the data collection instruments, data collection, and organization techniques follow. An overview of the data analysis plan using thematic analysis is then presented before the reliability and validity of the study are described in detail. Section 2 concludes with a transition and summary.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry study was to explore strategies nursing home leaders use to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher was to collect data about nursing home leaders' strategies to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs. Qualitative researchers adopt multiple roles. Unlike quantitative researchers, who collect data through online surveys without direct participant interaction, qualitative researchers are human instruments (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). After formulating the research problem identified by a gap in the literature, a qualitative researcher systematically collects, organizes, and analyzes data. To this end, I completed each of the seven roles

identified by Yin (2018): (a) data collection; (b) data organization; (c) data analysis; (d) data interpretation; (e) review of the academic literature to gather background information regarding the research problem; (f) identification, recruitment and interaction of qualified participants; and (g) data storage and security. I fulfilled each of these roles in this study. I accessed the participants using my professional network, professional associations, and social media.

Qualitative researchers must also acknowledge and mitigate personal biases to avoid confounding the study results. According to Yin (2018), researchers can use reflexivity protocols to mitigate researcher bias and enhance the trustworthiness of the findings in a qualitative research study. One of my roles as the researcher was to ensure that my personal preconceptions and biases did not interfere with the results and outcomes of the study. As a nursing home leader for 13 years, I was interested in employee retention and optimizing nursing home operations to provide quality care. To mitigate personal bias, I did not recruit any participants I knew personally. As such, I did not have any personal or professional knowledge of the participants prior to the study.

I used two mechanisms to reduce potential researcher bias. First, I used an interview protocol during the semistructured interviews. Using an interview protocol can prevent potential bias from interfering with data collection (Roberts, 2020). Second, I kept a research journal to log my research-related activities, making reflexive notes about my thoughts during each step of the research. The use of a reflexive journal helps researchers be aware of their preconceptions that may influence the study's findings

(McGrath et al., 2021). These mechanisms helped mitigate the potential of research bias in this study.

Researchers must act following ethical standards. Following the guidance of the Belmont Report, I followed the ethical guidelines provided to ensure that each participant is protected (see National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). I followed *The Belmont Report's* protocol by giving participants an informed consent form that detailed the study procedures and the benefits and risks associated with participation in the study. The Belmont Report ensures that researchers adhere to three principles: respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (Paxton, 2020). I upheld these three ethical principles throughout the research study.

Participants

Inclusion criteria were used to select participants. The study's participant inclusion criteria included: (a) currently working as a nursing home leader at a North Carolina nursing home; (b) having at least five years of experience as a nursing home leader; (c) having two years of successful financials running a nursing home; and (d) having successful strategies to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover.

I used different resources to recruit and gain access to participants. I contacted individuals in my professional network to identify suitable nursing home leaders to recruit as participants and asked them to introduce me to gain initial access. With that initial introduction and contact information, I recruited nursing home leaders as potential

participants for my study. To prevent selection bias, I excluded individuals with whom I had professional or personal connections. I also used social media to recruit potential participants. I obtained the permission of moderators in Facebook groups aimed at supporting U.S. nursing home leaders to post an invitation to participate in my research on the group's platform. Qualitative research is based on the assumption that the participants have in-depth knowledge about the phenomenon being investigated (Yin, 2018). The nursing home leaders in this target group were appropriate for this research study because they had direct knowledge of strategies used to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover.

Establishing a professional relationship with participants is critical for qualitative research. I established working relationships with participants by building a positive rapport with them. Researchers can develop strong working relationships with participants by adhering to the provisions of the Belmont Report (Paxton, 2020). Participants treated respectfully are more likely to provide detailed and insightful responses to interview questions than those treated with disrespect (Grady, 2022). Therefore, I established a working relationship with participants by treating them with respect, following the guidance of the Belmont Report.

Research Method and Design

I chose a qualitative methodology with a pragmatic inquiry research design for this study. In this section, I first examine the reasons for choosing a qualitative methodology rather than a quantitative or mixed method. Next, I discuss the choice of a pragmatic inquiry design over the other possible qualitative research designs.

Research Method

Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods are the three general types of methodologies. The purpose of this study was to gain first-hand information about the research problem from the participants' perspectives. In qualitative research, questions are answered about people's lives, experiences, emotions, behavior, perceptions, feelings, and the widespread phenomenon under investigation (Sandelowski, 2000). Researchers seeking in-depth information about a phenomenon choose the qualitative methodology (Levitt et al., 2018). Participant interviews, for example, could provide a more nuanced understanding of the reasons behind decisions and behaviors (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Researchers can also use qualitative methodologies to reflect on how people view their experiences, environment, and the meanings they derive from them (Busetto et al., 2020). Thus, the qualitative methodology was appropriate for the present study.

This study did not use quantitative or mixed methods. Quantitative methodologies allow systematic, systematic, and objective generation and refinement of knowledge (Crabtree & Miller, 2022). Qualitative methods aim to examine how many, how much, and how far a phenomenon occurs within a population or subpopulation (Mohajan, 2020). Rather than presenting statistics about employee retention in nursing homes, the current study used a qualitative methodology to explore descriptions of employee retention strategies from nursing home leaders. Due to the need for a quantitative component in the research questions, a mixed methods approach, which combines elements from quantitative and qualitative methodologies, was also not selected for this study.

Research Design

Within the qualitative methodology, the pragmatic inquiry research design was chosen for the study. The pragmatic qualitative inquiry research design allows researchers to identify pragmatic solutions to complex research problems (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). The overarching goal of a qualitative pragmatic inquiry is to reveal and decipher the solutions to real-world problems, which can be approached using inductive reasoning and explanation (Kelly & Cordeiro, 2020). Using the pragmatic inquiry design allows researchers to ask questions such as why and how, providing context and a deeper understanding of a problem and potential solutions (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). The pragmatic inquiry research design has been used in various fields, such as business (Rahi, 2017), nursing (Gunasekara et al., 2014), and leadership (Kelly & Cordeiro, 2020). Furthermore, pragmatic inquiry research designs have been utilized extensively in evaluating medical leadership (Allemang et al., 2022). As a researcher using this approach, I was interested in how the participants in my study interpreted their experiences, how they constructed and described their business decisions, and the meaning they ascribed to their experiences. Therefore, the pragmatic qualitative inquiry was a suitable and appropriate method for the present study.

Other qualitative designs, such as narrative, grounded theory, and case study, were not considered appropriate for this study. The primary focus of a narrative method is on data obtained from people who provide personal and narrative information about their lives (Mihas, 2019). Since this study focused on a specific business problem rather than participants' lived experiences, a narrative method was not chosen. A study by

Glasser and Strauss (2017) proposed that grounded theory is inappropriate for qualitative analysis of a general phenomenon. Other designs, such as the case study design, explore limited concerns and problems and would not allow for the perspectives of many nursing home leaders to be examined; as such, a case study or multiple case study was not chosen for the research (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). Therefore, I chose a pragmatic qualitative inquiry because it was the most suitable research design for the study.

Qualitative researchers should aim to achieve data saturation, which influences the strengths of the conclusions that can be drawn. Data saturation is the point in data collection when interviewing more participants does not add additional information (Braun & Clarke, 2019). A sample size of five participants allowed for data saturation. In this study, data saturation was evidenced by the repetition of ideas from the participants (Low, 2019). However, if I had not observed data saturation after conducting five interviews, I would have continued interviewing participants until the study reached data saturation.

Population and Sampling

The general population of this study was nursing home leaders in the United States. The target population was nursing home leaders in North Carolina who had successfully employed strategies to retain employees while providing quality care and reducing costs. The sample will consist of five purposefully sampled nursing home leaders in North Carolina who had successfully employed strategies to retain employees, maintain quality care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover. The participants:

(a) worked as a nursing home leader at a North Carolina nursing home; (b) had at least

five years of experience as a nursing home leader; (c) had two years of successful financials running a nursing home: and (d) had successful strategies to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover.

The choice of a sampling technique is critical for qualitative studies. In qualitative research, convenience, purposeful, and snowball sampling are often used by researchers to select study participants (Yin, 2018). Purposeful sampling can be used to choose information-rich cases based on predefined qualifying criteria (Staller, 2021). Snowball sampling relies on current study participants referring or nominating other individuals who may meet the study's inclusion criteria (Parker et al., 2019). I used purposeful sampling as the primary method of identifying participants who were knowledgeable about the phenomenon of strategies to retain employees in nursing homes because this sampling technique allowed me to identify participants with the knowledge required to answer the study's research question. Snowball sampling would have been used as a secondary sampling method of sampling if the purposeful sampling had not yielded the required number of participants needed for this study. A sample size of five was chosen because this sample size resulted in data saturation.

To assess whether potential participants met the study's inclusion criteria, I asked them screening questions. The screening questions were:

- 1. Do you currently work as a nursing home leader in North Carolina? [Yes/No]
- 2. How many years of experience do you have as a nursing home leader?
- 3. Do you have at least two years of successful financials for running your nursing home? [Yes/No]

4. Have you developed successful strategies to retain employees while providing quality care and reducing associated costs? [Yes/No]

I evaluated the responses provided by individuals to determine whether they were qualified to participate in the study. For inclusion in the study, participants responded to Questions 1, 2, and 4 with an answer of Yes. They answered at least five years to Question 2 to qualify for the study. Any other combination of answers disqualified potential participants from inclusion in the study.

Qualitative researchers should aim to achieve data saturation, the point in data collection when no new information is gained from interviewing additional participants (Braun & Clarke, 2019). Guest et al. (2020) found that data saturation was reached after interviewing eight participants in 98% of studies using qualitative interviews. Therefore, I originally chose a sample size of at least five participants. However, after completing five interviews, data saturation was reached, and I stopped collecting data. Data saturation was observed when no new codes were generated by a participant's interview.

The chosen interview setting is appropriate for this study. I used the Zoom telecommunications software to conduct virtual interviews with nursing home leaders located in North Carolina. Researchers have shown that the Zoom platform is a safe, reliable platform for conducting research interviews in qualitative studies (Gray et al., 2020). Zoom interviews have important benefits, including convenience and cost-effectiveness regarding recruitment inclusivity (Oliffe et al., 2021). Therefore, the Zoom telecommunications platform was appropriate for conducting the semistructured interviews in this study.

Ethical Research

When I conducted my research, I followed strict ethical procedures. The study was restricted to work-related interviews and posed only minimal risk, as I asked about professionals' work experiences. No sensitive or emotional topics were approached in this research study. I submitted for approval using Walden University's IRB Pre-Approval Manual for Minimal Risk application process to ensure that I had the necessary authorization to conduct the research.

Research is, however, a potentially risky endeavor for the participants. Thus, the researcher must maintain the participants' welfare throughout the research process (Connolly, 2016). The well-being of the subjects is ensured by adhering to ethical standards throughout the process. The Belmont Report (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979) outlines these standards. They include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice. The study was conducted per these three ethical principles.

To demonstrate respect for persons, I used an informed consent process to inform all participants about the research study. To this end, I emailed the participants an informed consent form that gave them information about the study, including the study's purpose, procedures, and the risks and benefits of participation. The participants will be required to reply to the informed consent email with the words "I consent." The informed consent form should include information about the participants' rights to withdraw from the study (Connolly, 2016). Through the informed consent form, I ensured that the

participants knew they could withdraw from the study at any time for any reason. No incentives were given to participants for participating in the study.

Participants' confidentiality was maintained. Pseudonyms were used to preserve participants' confidentiality in research studies (Abd Razak et al., 2020). I named all files related to participation in the study, including informed consent forms, screening questionnaires, audio recording files, and interview transcripts, with pseudonyms for participants, such as Participant P1, P2, and so on. If a participant mentioned information that could reasonably identify them, such as their place of employment, that information was redacted from their interview transcript to protect their confidentiality. The Walden University IRB ensured that the protections used in this study were adequate to protect the participants, and I only began my research after receiving IRB approval (IRB # 12-04-23-0987476). As required by Walden University, I safely stored the informed consent emails, audio recordings, transcripts, and analytical data for five years. All research-related materials and data were stored in my home office on a password-protected, encrypted laptop and cloud drive. After five years, I will destroy the data using commercially available data destruction software.

Data Collection Instruments

There were two data collection instruments in this qualitative pragmatic inquiry.

The qualitative researcher was the first instrument. Participants were asked to participate in a semistructured interview. Therefore, the second instrument was a semistructured interview, which comprised an interview guide containing open-ended interview questions that allowed me to collect data from the participants. Using an interview

protocol can prevent potential bias from interfering with data collection (Roberts, 2020). See Appendix A for a copy of the interview protocol.

The interview guide was developed based on the study's purpose, research question, and theoretical framework, which consisted of TLT. The interview focused on key inquiries about the participants' perspectives on strategies they used to successfully retain employees in their nursing homes while maintaining quality of care and minimizing associated costs. Open-ended interview questions were used to explore the participants' insights systematically (see Daniel, 2019). Therefore, during the interviews, I posed the same open-ended questions in the same order for each participant. The publicly available company documents collected from the participants were examined to identify employee retention strategies and information regarding quality care or associated costs. Candela (2019) described member checking as a way to increase the reliability and validity of a qualitative study. Therefore, I used member checking, asking the interviewees to review and confirm my interpretation of their responses, to enhance the reliability and validity of the study's findings.

Data Collection Technique

This subsection describes my approach to data collection. I used semistructured interviews with participants meeting the study's inclusion criteria to collect data for this qualitative pragmatic inquiry. I also examined publicly-available company documents, artifacts, and websites for triangulation purposes. Triangulation promotes the trustworthiness of qualitative studies by providing additional support for research findings (Yin, 2018).

Once participants reviewed the informed consent form and consented to participate in the study, I sent them a link to an online scheduling application to choose a time and date to participate in the semistructured interviews. could choose a time and date that best fit their availability. At each participant's selected time and date, I conducted the semistructured interview using the Zoom telecommunications software. The Zoom platform provided a safe and reliable research environment for one-on-one interviews (see Archibald et al., 2019). The interview method was suitable for the study, as it promoted the direct engagement of nursing home leaders in North Carolina with success in retaining employees, maintaining quality care, and reducing associated costs. I followed the interview guide (see Appendix A), posed open-ended questions, facilitated the interview sessions, and offered clarification and secondary questions when necessary. Each participant completed one interview lasting between 45 and 60 minutes, giving each participant time to expand on their points of view.

There are several advantages to using semistructured interviews as a data collection tool for qualitative research studies. Interviews can be conducted through different means, including in-person, virtual, or email-based interviews (Yin, 2018). I chose to use virtual interviews because this modality allows researchers flexibility with time and scheduling. Semistructured interviews also allow researchers to expand on each participant's responses while still observing verbal and non-verbal behaviors (Yin, 2018). Researchers use semistructured interviews to ask clarifying or probing questions to gain further insight into participants' primary responses (Brown & Danaher, 2019). I followed

the interview protocol, which contained open-ended questions, and asked probing questions when I needed clarification on a participant's response.

There are some disadvantages to using semistructured interviews. Semistructured interviews can be time-consuming and may require the researcher to have multiple exchanges with participants to schedule and complete the interviews (Yin, 2018).

Technological problems could also impact virtual interviews, such as losing internet connectivity (Mirick & Wladkowski, 2019). In this case, data could be lost if the software used to record or conduct the interview fails. This limitation can be mitigated in two manners. First, the researcher should test the interview platform and recording equipment (Gray et al., 2020). Second, a backup recording device can be used to ensure data is collected.

On the day of each scheduled interview, I audio recorded the interviews with the explicit permission of the participants. I ensured that Zoom was configured to only audio-record the interviews; video-recording was not enabled during the interviews. Using audio recordings assures that the audio from the interviews is transcribed accurately (Yin, 2018). I aimed to obtain rich, thick data from the participants. Thick descriptions reduce researcher and participant bias while improving data saturation (Johnson et al., 2020). To ensure I obtained a thick description of the phenomenon, I asked probing questions and requested clarification on any answers that were incomplete or required clarification.

After the interviews were complete, I transcribed the interviews. Transcription accuracy is imperative for qualitative studies because the data was analyzed based on the written transcriptions (Nascimento & Steinbruch, 2019). To complete the transcriptions, I first

used the automatic transcription tool provided by the Otter.ai software. Second, I compared the interview transcripts line-by-line with the audio recording to ensure that the participants' interviews were transcribed accurately. Any personally identifiable information revealed by the participants, such as their names or places of employment, was redacted.

After the interviews, the participants were asked to provide publicly available company documents related to their strategies for employee retention. These documents were used for triangulation purposes. Triangulation is an important aspect of qualitative studies. Triangulation involves comparing information from multiple sources to determine if the information corroborates each other (R. Campbell et al., 2020). Triangulation can be used in qualitative research to minimize researcher bias, provide rich data, and aid in reaching data saturation (R. Campbell et al., 2020). Data triangulation involves using multiple data sources, such as focus groups and interviews (Bans-Akutey & Tiimub, 2021). In this study, I used data triangulation by collecting and evaluating multiple data sources, namely semistructured interviews and public documents, artifacts, and websites from multiple participants from different nursing homes in North Carolina.

I used member checking to enhance the validity and reliability of the study's findings. I used member checking after the data analysis process was complete to enhance the study's trustworthiness. Member checking is a quality control mechanism researchers use to enhance the credibility of their qualitative studies (Candela, 2019). During member checking, I emailed each participant a one-page summary of their

analyzed data to ensure my interpretation of their responses was consistent with their thoughts and ideas. Member checking should enhance the trustworthiness of my research study.

Data Organization Technique

I needed to organize the data I collected. I kept and maintained a research journal to denote all details regarding the methodology used to conduct the research study. Maintaining a reflexive log can help researchers understand their preconceptions and assumptions, mitigating researcher bias (McGrath et al., 2021). During the study, I named each participant's interview transcripts using a pseudonym, such as Participant P1, P2, and so on, to ensure each participant's confidentiality. I organized data from semistructured interviews using NVivo Version 12, a qualitative data analysis software. NVivo is frequently used to manage and store data collected in qualitative research studies (Alam, 2021). Publicly available documents, artifacts, and websites provided by the participants were also saved using the participants' pseudonyms. Any sensitive or identifiable information was redacted from these documents. I also kept a reflexive journal, where I made notes about my thoughts, preconceived notions, and perceptions of the participants' responses and behaviors. Journaling is an important mechanism that researchers can use to acknowledge their reflexivity and mitigate researcher bias (McGrath et al., 2021). I stored all electronic data collected on a secure, passwordprotected, encrypted cloud drive. After five years, I will use data destruction software to destroy all electronic data, as mandated by the Walden University IRB.

Data Analysis

Qualitative researchers conduct data analysis to present their findings while enhancing the trustworthiness of the study. According to Kiger and Varpio (2020), researchers can choose between five main types of qualitative data analysis: (a) comparative analysis, (b) content analysis, (c) cross-case synthesis, (d) narrative synthesis, and (e) thematic analysis. I selected Braun and Clarke's (2019) method for thematic analysis to analyze the data in this qualitative pragmatic inquiry. I used the NVivo Version 12 qualitative analysis software for compiling, sorting, organizing, and coding the data from semi-structured interviews. Publicly available documents, artifacts, and websites were also uploaded to the NVivo software and coded alongside the interview data. After data analysis was complete, I sent each participant a summary of the findings pertaining to their interviews and company documents for member checking to enhance the trustworthiness of the study's findings.

I analyzed the data collected from semistructured interviews through thematic analysis. Thematic analysis is commonly used to analyze large amounts of textual data derived from qualitative interviews (Lindgren et al., 2020). Data analysis is methodical and systematic, allowing researchers to extract meaningful patterns from the data (Braun & Clarke, 2019). Data analysis involves organizing and dissecting the data to identify ideas, categories, themes and patterns relevant to the research questions. I analyzed the interview transcripts using Braun and Clarke's (2019) method for thematic analysis, which involves six steps, as described below.

Phase One: Data Familiarization

The first phase was familiarization with the data. In this phase, I transcribed the audio files into transcripts. This phase often involves multiple readings of the interview transcripts (Braun & Clarke, 2019). Therefore, I read each interview from start to finish to get an overall understanding of the data collected. Company documents provided by the participants were also reviewed multiple times. During this phase, I ensured that any personally identifiable information mentioned in the interview was redacted from the interview transcripts and company documents.

Phase Two: Coding

Phase 2 is the coding phase. Coding involves categorizing the data into small, meaningful units, also known as codes (Saldaña, 2021). I designed the codes to be descriptive phrases based on the participants' ideas and thoughts. During this phase, I created a codebook that outlined the codes for used to categorize the data. I began using NVivo Version 12 in this phase.

Phase Three: Theme Development

Phase 3 is the theme development phase. During this phase, I reviewed the coded data and formed axial categories by grouping similar codes together. Axial categories are descriptive categories that describe groupings of codes (Saldaña, 2021). I then used the axial categories to extract themes. Themes represent patterns and relationships witin the data (Braun & Clarke, 2019). To exact themes, I grouped similar categories together in a logical fashion. I anticipated that some themes may derived from the study's conceptual

framework, TLT. Themes were also compared to the findings present in the literature in this phase.

Phase Four: Thematic Map

In Phase 4, I created a thematic map that detailed the connections between the codes, axial categories, and themes. A thematic map is a visual representation of the data that helps researchers organize their data logically (Braun & Clarke, 2019). This approach allowed me to identify similarities and differences between themes, which aided in code, category, and theme refinement.

Phase Five: Theme Refinement

Phase 5 is the refinement phase. I examined the thematic map in this phase and determined whether new themes have emerged. Researchers rename and redefine the codes, categories, and themes during this phase when necessary (Braun & Clarke, 2019). To this end, I reviewed, redefined, and renamed similar themes into a new encompassing theme to remove redundant themes. In this phase, I addressed discrepant cases, or participants who expressed different ideas than the others. In this study, a discrepant case was identified as a code only applied to one participant's interview. I identified and documented discrepant cases to discuss them in the research findings.

Phase Six: Data Interpretation

The final phase in Braun and Clarke's (2019) thematic analysis procedure is data interpretation. In Phase 6, I evaluated the collected data and the data analysis holistically. This final phase is designed to ensure that the themes relate to the research topic and question. During this phase, I interpreted the data in the context of the study's conceptual

framework, TLT, and synthesized my findings with those in the literature. Finally, after data analysis, I summarized each participant's data and performed member checking. This step enhanced the credibility and validity of the study's findings (Candela, 2019). The six-phased method for thematic analysis and member checking provided a robust analysis of the participants' data.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Promoting reliability is essential for all research studies. In qualitative research, reliability pertains to the soundness of the research methodology and the appropriateness of the chosen research design, sampling method, and data analysis procedures (Vu, 2021). Researchers can improve the reliability, or dependability, of qualitative research through several strategies, including: (a) identifying researcher biases and reporting any preconceived assumptions or notions, (b) rigorously establishing the methods for participant recruitment and data collection and analysis, and (c) accurately reporting the information provided by the participants (Rose & Johnson, 2020). I used various methods, including extensive researcher reflexivity protocols, to enhance the reliability and dependability of the study.

Dependability

Dependability is a method researchers use to establish rigor and trustworthiness in qualitative studies. Using rigorous protocols for data collection and analysis can promote the dependability of a study (Rose & Johnson, 2020). In this study, I promoted the dependability of my findings in three ways. First, documented my research protocols in

my research journal to provide rigor in the establishment of all methodological choices. The research journal was also used to note my preconceived notions and thoughts at each stage of the research process, as outlined by McGrath et al. (2021). Second, I used member checking (see Candela, 2019) to allow the participants to review a summary of the transcripts for errors and to confirm my interpretation of their data. These methodological choices enhanced the dependability of the study's findings.

Validity

Validity is another important aspect of research studies. Rose and Johnson (2020) asserted that qualitative researchers can improve the validity of their findings through multiple mechanisms, including data triangulation and data saturation. According to Halkias et al. (2022), qualitative researchers achieve external validity, or transferability, by evaluating data from multiple participants, using triangulation, and comparing their findings to those in the academic literature. Validity of a qualitative study is assessed through credibility, transferability, and confirmability.

Credibility

Credibility refers to the believability of a research study's findings. According to Wood et al. (2020), credibility involves readers' confidence regarding the study's conclusions. I enhanced the credibility of the study's findings in multiple ways. First, I used data from multiple participants representing multiple nursing homes in North Carolina. This allowed me to provide a rich, thick description of the data while promoting data saturation (Rose & Johnson, 2020). I also maintained a reflexive journal throughout the research process. Using a reflexive journal allowed me to document my perceptions

related to each step in the research process (see McGrath et al., 2021). I used interviewee member checking to ensure that I presented accurate information in the research findings.

Transferability

Transferability is similar to generalizability in quantitative studies. Transferability refers to a researcher's ability to apply the research findings to other situations with similar populations (Rose & Johnson, 2020). To address transferability, I rigorously documented my data collection and analysis methods, providing a detailed description of the interview protocol, pragmatic inquiry methodology, participants, and research findings. According to S. Campbell et al. (2020), using the purposeful sampling technique can also enhance the transferability of a study's findings. I attempted to select participants from different regions of North Carolina so that local community culture did not influence the study's findings. Therefore, I addressed transferability by ensuring that the purposefully selected participants interviewed in the study are diverse and representative of the study's general population.

Confirmability

Confirmability refers to the extent to which the research findings can be replicated by other researchers. The confirmability of a study can be enhanced by rigorously documenting the study's anticipated and actual methodology (Halkias et al., 2022). To achieve confirmability in my study, I used an interview protocol for the semistructured interviews. I accurately documented the interview transcripts and perform member checking to verify the veracity of the data collected and its interpretation, following the

procedures outlined by Candela (2019). To minimize researcher bias, I used reflexivity protocols, including journaling, to document my perceptions as a researcher.

Data saturation is important for confirmability. Data saturation is the point at which no new information will be gained by interviewing more participants (S. Campbell et al., 2020). Once saturation has been reached, data collection is thought to be exhausted (S. Campbell et al., 2020). To achieve data saturation, I interviewed as many nursing home leaders as needed until no new data or coding emerged.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I restated the purpose of the study and discussed my role as a researcher. I reported the participant selection criteria, recruitment strategy, research methodology, and design. I identified the population, sample, and sampling technique and discussed ethical research principles applicable to this study. I described procedures for participation, data collection, and data analysis. I also discussed the procedures I will use to ensure the reliability and validity of the study. In Section 3, I will present the research findings, applications for professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and future research. I will also discuss my reflections on the research process and provide conclusions.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry study was to explore strategies nursing home leaders use to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover. The theoretical framework underpinning the analysis of the study was TLT. The participants provided the primary data used to answer the research question, and secondary data included publicly available company documents regarding the represented nursing homes' culture, which impacts employee retention, according to White et al. (2020). Interviews were performed until data saturation was reached, as evidenced by the generation of no new information from the interviews or document review.

The participants discussed strategies they used to retain employees in their nursing homes successfully. I identified three themes based on the participants' responses to the interview questions. The first theme is that nursing home leaders form relationships with employees, creating a team and family work atmosphere. The second theme is that nursing home leaders assess and address employee needs, focusing on their strengths and recognizing them for good work. Theme 3 is that nursing home leaders solve the challenges associated with employee retention by involving employees in the solutions to problems. By relating the study's findings to TLT, I better understood how some U.S. nursing home leaders retain qualified nursing staff. Furthermore, the findings of the study are discussed in the context of previous academic and professional literature, highlighting novel themes regarding nursing home administration and leadership.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for my study was: What strategies do nursing home leaders use to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover? Nursing homes have increasingly experienced challenges retaining nursing staff, especially since the COVID-19 pandemic (Denny-Brown et al., 2020). Without effective employee retention strategies, nursing home leaders could lose profitability and sacrifice the quality of care for residents. I used triangulation to combine data collected from semistructured interviews and company documents. Upon completing my fourth interview, no new codes were generated during data analysis, indicating that I had reached data saturation. An additional interview was completed to ensure saturation had been reached.

I organized the study data and conducted the thematic analysis using the NVivo (Version 12) software to identify emerging themes and trends for data analysis and interpretation. Three themes were identified based on the participants' responses to the interview questions. The first theme is that nursing home leaders form relationships with employees, creating a team and family work atmosphere. The second theme is that nursing home leaders assess and address employee needs, focusing on their strengths and recognizing them for good work. The third theme is that nursing home leaders solve the challenges associated with employee retention by involving employees in the solutions to problems.

Theme 1: Nursing Home Leaders Form Relationships with Employees

The nursing home leaders interviewed in this study described forming strong relationships with employees and creating a team and family atmosphere. All participants contributed to the development of this theme. The participants indicated that they tried to form relationships with employees, understanding them on a personal level. For instance, P1 said, "Getting to know those employees on a more individual basis versus just looking at a group of people. 'Hey, how's your daughter doing? When your daughter was out sick, are they doing better? So, engaging them in that way." P1 indicates that understanding employees on a personal level is critical for retaining employees, believing that if leaders take the time to understand their employees, they will remain with the organization.

P2 also indicated the importance of understanding employees personally. P2 said, "One other thing I tried to do is to know about the families when I ask them about how their mom or their child is doing; it makes [employees] feel motivated." P2, like P1, believed in trying to understand employees personally, finding that this personal attention helped motivate employees. P4 structured their time at the nursing home to maximize their ability to interact with nursing staff. P4 said:

I try to manage by walking around, talking to the staff, and getting to know the staff the best I can. I'm here early in the morning, so I'm here before the third leaves, and I'm here when the second comes in. So, I'm here for all three shifts during the day. So that way, you get to see different sets of employees in different departments.

P4 ensures they structure their time to interact with all three shifts of nurses, maximizing their ability to form personal relationships with staff members.

Some participants indicated that they actively mentor new members of the organization. P5 indicated that this personalized attention helps employees acclimate to the organization. P5 said, "I think this helps a lot when you're getting a new staff member acclimated to the building. Every building has its own culture. So, we have incorporated the mentorship program for new employees." P5 believed that mentorship helps new staff members become acclimated to the organization's culture while helping them feel empowered and motivated in their jobs. P2 also described the importance of mentorship in building employee relationships. P2 said:

Trying to use management to bridge that gap, meeting the employees where they are, we can no longer sit in our offices and expect things to be done. We have to be there with them. We have to mentor them. We have to give them mentors to be able to help them through this process and try to help them understand why they're here to do the job.

For P2 and P5, mentorship is a critical component of employee retention because individual investment in the employees facilitates a conducive work environment that fosters organizational loyalty. Thus, some nursing home leaders enhance employee retention by forming relationships with employees and mentoring them.

Team and Family-Oriented Environment

The participants also spoke about creating a team-oriented environment as a component of empowering their employees. P3 spoke about the team-oriented nature of

assignments given to nursing staff. P3 explained, "So, nobody has one person, one assignment. It's not overbearing and just making you do your rounds, and you have the unit managers if you can't get to something, making sure everybody is working in sync." P3 believed in the equitable distribution of residents among staff to ensure that no one staff member was treated differently than others. This strategy emphasized a teamoriented nursing environment. P5 also emphasized the team-oriented nature of their leadership style. P5 said, "We try to incorporate a family environment where I have an open-door policy, me, my administrator, my unit, my admin team, they even have my cell phone number." P5's open-door policy involved allowing all staff members to have their administrators' contact information, facilitating a team-oriented work environment conducive to employee retention. P4 also spoke about treating employees as a family, devising methods to promote engagement. P4 said:

I think that you have to give back to the employees, even little things. We might get them doughnuts one morning or we might get them a chicken biscuit. Next week, we have our staff Christmas party. We have different things going on throughout the month just trying to motivate and we had a Halloween party costume contest, I think we have an ugly sweater contest for Christmas coming up if they want to distribute, and that just different things to make, make the work by more fun.

P4 works diligently to make their nursing home an inviting environment, promoting employee engagement through organization-wide activities and events. Through these

strategies, the participants create an inviting, inclusive atmosphere that builds employee retention.

Analysis of Theme 1 Under TLT

In Theme 1, the participants described forming personal relationships with employees to build employee retention, a strategy aligned with transformational leadership. Individualized consideration is the extent to which a leader attends to followers' individual needs, working with followers as a coach or mentor (Bass, 1999). By stressing the importance of understanding employees personally, the participants described using individualized consideration. Through individualized consideration, leaders focus on individual employees' unique capabilities and needs, empowering them to perform well in their jobs (Lee & Ding, 2020). In this study, the participants elucidated that individualized consideration is an important component of their leadership roles regarding employee retention.

Comparison of Theme 1 to the Academic Literature

Analysis of the literature review presented in Section 1 indicated that individualized consideration is important for employee retention. When leaders invest in employees through individualized consideration, employee engagement in the workplace is enhanced (Lai et al., 2020). Individualized consideration is especially important in the healthcare industry, where mentorship is foundational (Luis & Vance, 2020). Poels et al. (2020) argued that individualized consideration is critical for nursing staff retention in long-term care facilities but ascertained that many nursing home leaders use a passive-avoidant style of leadership that hinders employee retention. This study extends the

findings in the literature by providing examples of how nursing home leaders use individualized consideration to build employee engagement and retention.

Theme 2: Address Employee Needs and Recognize Good Work Builds Retention

The second theme identified in this study is that nursing home leaders assess and address employee needs, focusing on employees' strengths and recognizing them for good work. Assessing and addressing employees' needs was a prominent thought in the participants' interviews. P2 explained that employee retention requires the daily, consistent effort of leadership. P2 said:

Retention, that's something almost we do daily because we're always hiring for some people turning over, but we make sure that people we bring in, we try to work with them to say to make them where their needs are, where our needs as well talk to them daily.

P2 emphasizes that assessing employees' needs is a critical daily effort toward promoting retention. Assessing employees' needs allows those needs to be addressed before becoming a critical factor influencing attrition. P3 also emphasized the importance of assessing employee needs and making adjustments when possible. P3 said, "If there are small things that we can do to change, employee shift changes, schedule changes, or comparable salaries that are unfair, then we'd make all those adjustments." P3 believed accommodating the needs of employees is fundamental for promoting retention. P4 explained that addressing employees' needs ensures their voices are heard, fostering a supportive environment. P4 said:

We try to be more mental and deflect any issues that the staff would have when they first come in. If they are facing a challenge with a veteran resident or something in the workforce, we try to address it head-on. So, they feel like they are being supported in the position here.

According to P4, assessing and addressing employees' needs allows them to feel supported, which builds retention.

Focusing on Employees' Strengths

Some participants spoke about capitalizing on their employees' strengths to build retention. For instance, P1 said:

I think that looking at employees' strengths is important. If you have somebody who's very organized, I tend to pull on their strengths. So, I know that you're organized, hey, and I'm going to say to the CNA, for example, 'Hey, can you go over there, make sure that we always have our kitchenette organized and clean?' That makes them, again, feel valued. I'm recognizing them in a way that plays to their strengths, and then I'm giving them something they enjoy doing.

P1 tries to utilize employees to capitalize on their strengths, giving them assignments that they enjoy and will bring success. By doing so, P1's employees feel valued and enjoy working. P5 also spoke on identifying employees' strengths and weaknesses. P5 explained:

We have the mentorship. I also evaluate employees to see what their strengths and weaknesses are. A lot of times, I focus also on some of the weaknesses because

we all have weaknesses; we can get the staff trained in their weaknesses and just also see the strengths.

P5 focuses on employees' strengths but also trains them on their weaknesses. P5 believes this form of empowerment encourages employees to remain with an organization. By focusing on weaknesses, P5 allows employees to become proficient in new skills and grow as individuals and as employees.

Recognizing Employees for Good Work Builds Retention

The participants spoke about the importance of recognizing employees for good work. P1 said:

Recognition is a big thing that we use here, too, to recognize our employees who are performing well, even sometimes when someone just does something a little bit on the side. I think that employees definitely like to know that you know them - who they are as individuals, especially from a family perspective that shows you appear to treat them with respect and also to recognize when they do good and applaud them for that.

P1 emphasized that recognizing employees inspires and motivates them, which helps them feel valued by the organization. P2 described recognition as their most influential strategy in building employee retention. P2 said:

But one of the successful strategies was recognition. It's a period now when people want to be recognized for what they do. It's no longer like before, when people come in and do the job and go home; we need to recognize what they do. We have programs, we have birthdays organized every month. Now we also do it

weekly, where we organize them every week for what they do. We know it's not an easy job. We have some gifts we give them for recognition, then also walk around and talk to them, recognizing them and thanking them for what they do.

P1 and P2 indicated that recognizing employees for their work facilitated retention by ensuring employees felt valued.

Analysis of Theme 2 Under TLT

In Theme 2, the participants discussed building employee retention by assessing and addressing employee needs, focusing on employees' strengths, and recognizing them for good work. TLT is a useful lens for understanding this Theme. By focusing on employees' strengths and addressing employees' needs, the participants are describing another application of individualized consideration. Capitalizing on the employees' strengths involves understanding the strengths and weaknesses of each member of the team, a concept inherently aligned with individualized consideration (van Woerkom et al., 2022). Transformational leaders tend to strategically assign tasks to their employees based on their individual strengths, ensuring that each employee is assigned tasks that enhance organizational performance (Bass, 1999). Moreover, empowering employees through recognition is consistent with inspirational motivation. According to Al Harbi et al. (2019), empowering employees through recognition not only empowers individual employees but can raise the performance of an organization. Thus, the participants employ elements of transformational leadership in their employee retention strategies.

Comparison of Theme 2 to the Academic Literature

The literature suggests that recognition of employees for superior work is critical for employment satisfaction and retention (Baqir et al., 2020). Leaders who recognize employees foster employees' pride in their work and in the organization, empowering employees to continue doing good work (Yang et al., 2022). Organizational pride is a powerful motivator for employee retention intentions (Kumar, 2022). Moreover, employees who feel respected by their organizations are less likely to seek employment at other organizations than those who report feeling disrespected or taken for granted (Ford et al., 2023). Thus, by recognizing employees' work, the nursing home leaders interviewed in this study worked to enhance employee satisfaction and organizational pride, in turn promoting retention intentions.

One participant spoke about addressing employees' weaknesses through training and professional development. The literature suggests that employees with professional development opportunities feel valued by their organization, increasing employee retention (Ashraf, 2019). In the medical field, ongoing professional development is required to remain knowledgeable about current medical laws, procedures, equipment, and best practices. While nurses are required to complete continuing medical education in many states to maintain their licensure, many nurses employed by nursing homes report having to complete educational programs on their own time (Dyck & Kim, 2018). Consequently, nurses appreciate employers who facilitate and invest in professional development opportunities (Page et al., 2020). Thus, evidence from the literature and

from the participants' interviews suggest that nursing home leaders can promote staff retention by offering them opportunities for paid professional development.

Theme 3: Nursing Home Leaders Involve Employees in Solutions to Problems

Theme 3 describes how nursing home leaders solve the challenges associated with employee retention by involving employees in the solutions to problems. The participants spoke about the challenges associated with employee retention. Some of those challenges involved factors outside their control as nursing home leaders, including government and corporate policies. For instance, P1 said, "Some things are set by our corporation. So, some things we don't have control over. We might want to give our employees certain things but can't." P1 explained that they wanted to make their wages more competitive but did not have control over wage standards delineated by the corporation. Similarly, P2 expressed frustration over some corporate policies. P2 said, "Corporate does not always agree with what we want to do. Sometimes, if we need to hire, we need to go to higher wages, and that, of course, is a big conflict." P1 and P2 explained that wage discussions are always a point of contention between nursing home and corporate leaders, which makes finding and retaining qualified employees difficult. P4 believed that these challenges stemmed from government policies. P4 said, "I don't think that the government is allowing our rates to be high enough to stay competitive or to even keep the workforce in healthcare. Now, it's a big challenge." P4 described employees not only leaving nursing homes, but leaving healthcare in general. Wage rates set by the government and corporate entities hinder some employee retention solutions.

The participants also spoke about daily challenges in the nursing home environment that influence employee retention. P1 explained:

Having employees, or having what we call stakeholders here, having stakeholders who are sometimes naysayers, and allowing them to stay too long because they kind of sometimes can be like cancer. They're always complaining, but they remain and then you have your new people who come in and don't like that complaining. So, therefore, you end up losing people. So, what I've been doing as a leader is trying to address issues and behaviors of employees and nipping them in the bud versus letting them fester when you turn around and look, you've lost two to three employees, which is a huge amount of people to lose, especially in this industry, it's a lot of people to lose.

P1 found that maintaining an optimistic and positive nursing home environment can sometimes be challenging, especially when staff have been at the institution for a long period of time. Thus, one challenge the nursing home leaders describe facing is maintaining a positive atmosphere among all employees.

The participants described actively involving employees when seeking solutions to problems. P1 described having organization-wide meetings that allow employees to voice concerns and solutions to problems. P1 said, "We have town hall meetings with our staff, where we just ask what issues we can work on together. Letting them be a part of the solution is a big thing that we allow them to do." P1 involves employees in the decision-making process regarding solutions to challenges they experience at the nursing home. Involving employees in decisions allows them to have ownership over the

subsequent outcomes of those decisions. P4 agreed with P1 regarding involving employees in important decisions. P4 said:

It is a goal that the organization is looking to be at, then we as leaders are focused on that goal, again, including people in including feedback, how we can do things better, maybe if it's something that the organization set up or corporate set up for us, and it doesn't work, maybe we could look at reimplementation, or looking at a different way of getting to that goal. Including your employees in the resolution of problems and getting their buy-in to get to your goal is important.

P4 indicated that involving employees in solutions to problems increases their engagement in their work and also allows for creative solutions to be identified. Once solutions are identified, employees may buy into the implementation of those solutions because they were their or their colleagues' ideas. Moreover, employees devising solutions may have a more nuanced understanding of the needs of an organization since they are directly working with nursing home residents.

P2 and P3 also stressed the importance of involving employees in problemsolving decisions. P2 said:

They're also the team that will help you know the quality of care. So, involving them in this decision-making and real problem-solving makes them close to that, you know, to being motivated, you know where they want to be. But if you leave them apart, separated, they're not going to feel motivated.

P2 indicated that by involving employees in problem-solving, they engage the individuals most directly involved in maintaining and providing quality care. P2 believed that this

involvement motivates employees to engage in their work, furthering the provision of quality care to residents.

Analysis of Theme 3 Under TLT

The nursing home leaders described using intellectual stimulation by challenging employees to find solutions to problems they encounter. Through intellectual stimulation, leaders challenge employees to think creatively and critically, finding unique solutions to often complex problems (Bass, 1999). The nursing home leaders expressed concerns about challenges outside of their control, such as policies mandated by either the government or their corporate offices. However, by using intellectual stimulation to engage employees to find solutions to problems, the nursing home leaders believed that they found well-rounded and appropriate solutions, creatively addressing problems related to healthcare costs and quality of care. The nursing home leaders also believed that intellectual stimulation led to inspirational motivation by engaging employees and empowering them to be decision-makers and teammates.

Comparison of Theme 3 to the Academic Literature

This theme adds novel findings to the academic literature. In the literature, the leadership styles of nursing home leaders have been described as passive-avoidant (Poels et al., 2020), transactional (Peerman, 2023), and transformational (Peerman, 2022). Transformational leadership among nursing home administrators reportedly increases employee retention and job satisfaction (Curado & Santos, 2022). While the findings of Theme 3 are consistent with some aspects of transformational leadership, the nursing home leaders interviewed in this study described using democratic leadership, where

leaders involve employees in important decisions (Woods, 2020). In the democratic leadership style, leaders engage followers to take a participatory role in the decision-making processes. In this study, Theme 3 is consistent with democratic leadership, as the nursing home leaders actively involved their employees in making decisions related to organizational changes, policies, and mechanisms regarding quality of care.

Few studies have described nursing home administrators and leaders using the democratic leadership style. In fact, democratic leadership appears to be a rare approach in healthcare in general. Gruessner (2023) posited that democratic leadership may be viable in healthcare, particularly to avoid situations where an organization is operating in silos. However, the context of Gruessner's (2023) analysis was in the United Kingdom, which operates under a socialized healthcare system. In socialized medicine, the government owns and operates healthcare facilities and employs healthcare professionals (Back et al., 2023), which is markedly different from the capitalized healthcare system in the United States. Democratic leadership may not be prevalent in healthcare due to the many regulations with which healthcare facilities must comply. However, the participants in this study described using democratic leadership within the confines of government and corporate mandates, using this leadership style to find unique solutions to problems associated with quality of care. Thus, this study presents a new approach to nursing home administration not pronounced in the academic and professional literature. The nursing home leaders in this study used democratic leadership to engage and motivate employees to become integral stakeholders in the organization's operations and success.

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry study have significant implications for the professional practice of business, particularly in the field of nursing home administration. The study focused on exploring strategies employed by nursing home leaders to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and address the associated costs. The implications of these findings are discussed in three main themes, each shedding light on effective leadership practices within the context of the TLT.

Theme 1: Nursing Home Leaders Form Relationships with Employees

The first theme highlights the importance of nursing home leaders forming personal relationships with employees. Specifically, leaders actively engage with their staff on a personal level, demonstrating individualized consideration, a key component of transformational leadership (Bass, 1999). This approach involves understanding employees on a personal level, fostering a sense of belonging, and creating a team and family work atmosphere. Therefore, based on the findings and previous literature, employee retention benefits nursing facility leaders who implement this technique. The result is consistent with previous research that emphasizes the need of individualized consideration in improving employee engagement, particularly in the healthcare industry (Lee & Ding, 2020). Leaders develop a friendly environment that encourages employee loyalty by instituting mentorship programs, actively connecting with staff across shifts, and establishing an open-door policy.

Theme 2: Address Employee Needs and Recognize Good Work Builds Retention

The second theme delves into how nursing home leaders assess and address employee needs, focus on strengths, and recognize good work to build retention. This aligns with TLT's emphasis on individualized consideration and inspirational motivation (Bass, 1999). The study participants underscored the necessity for daily and unwavering efforts to discern and address the unique needs of employees, emphasizing the importance of a continuous process that involves both proactive assessment and responsive action. This intricate process encompasses not only identifying and mitigating concerns but also leveraging and capitalizing on individual strengths, aligning with insights from Min et al. (2022) and Tsai et al. (2019).

Drawing from both the findings and existing literature, recognition emerges as a compelling and actionable strategy for cultivating employee retention. The study participants emphasized the significance of regular and varied forms of acknowledgment for commendable work. This aligns with research by Arble et al. (2020) and Smith et al. (2023), highlighting the effectiveness of recognition programs, celebratory events such as birthdays, and direct communication channels. These practices contribute significantly to employee satisfaction and foster a sense of organizational pride. The thematic exploration of this aspect underscores the centrality of recognition within the broader context of retention strategies, positioning it as a dynamic and influential force that resonates with TLT principles and aligns with contemporary literature on leadership and organizational behavior.

Theme 3: Nursing Home Leaders Involve Employees in Solutions to Problems

The third thematic focus of the study delves into the intricate challenges surrounding employee retention, encompassing external factors such as governmental and corporate policies. Remarkably, nursing home leaders actively engage employees in collaborative problem-solving endeavors, embodying the principles of intellectual stimulation and inspirational motivation, core facets of transformational leadership (Bass, 1999). This introduces a distinctive dimension to the existing literature, underscoring the practical application of democratic leadership within the nuanced realm of nursing home administration.

While democratic leadership remains a less-explored concept within healthcare literature, this study posits its effectiveness in engaging employees in decision-making processes, aligning with the research by Cimarolli et al. (2022) and Rolland and de Souto Barreto (2022). The participatory approach adopted by nursing home leaders in addressing challenges not only signifies the integration of democratic leadership principles but also empowers employees by involving them in solution-seeking endeavors. This inclusive strategy fosters a profound sense of ownership among employees, influencing organizational outcomes positively. Additionally, Gruessner (2023) emphasizes the importance of adaptive leadership strategies in navigating the complexities of the healthcare landscape, further affirming the relevance and applicability of democratic leadership in the specific context of nursing home administration. Back et al. (2023) also highlight the need for innovative leadership approaches to address contemporary challenges, reinforcing the significance of the study's findings in

contributing to the ongoing discourse on effective leadership practices in healthcare settings.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for social change in the landscape of nursing home care are multi-faceted, addressing key areas that can significantly transform the well-being of individuals, foster community support, ensure organizational excellence, drive cultural shifts, and enhance healthcare accessibility. Drawing from empirical research by Agar et al. (2023), Gonella et al. (2023), Fraser et al. (2019), and others, these implications provide a comprehensive roadmap for reshaping the future of elder care on both micro and macro societal levels.

Elevated Well-being Through Person-Centered Care

The first implication for social change is to elevate well-being through personcentered care. The adoption of person-centered care approaches marks a significant
departure from traditional, standardized models of care in nursing homes. The emphasis
on tailoring care plans to individual residents, as highlighted by Agar et al. (2023),
acknowledges and accommodates the unique preferences, strengths, and life histories of
each resident. This not only enhances the quality of life for residents but also sets a new
standard in elder care. The inclusion of family engagement, as observed by Gonella et al.
(2023), further contributes to a holistic approach, fostering a sense of belonging and
support. Technological advancements, as explored by Edelman et al. (2020), play a
pivotal role in this transformation, with electronic health records and telehealth services
ensuring more personalized and accessible healthcare for residents.

Community Support and Collaborative Care

The second implication for social change is to focus on community support and collaborative care. The promotion of family engagement within nursing homes, a point emphasized by Jung and Oh (2018) and Lefebre et al. (2020), extends beyond individual well-being. It creates a ripple effect, fostering community support within and around nursing homes. The collaborative care model, where families actively participate in the care planning process, not only benefits residents but also strengthens the bond between the facility and the broader community. This collaborative spirit aligns with a more inclusive and interconnected approach to elder care, breaking down barriers and challenging societal perceptions of nursing homes.

Organizational Excellence and Workforce Stability

A third implication for social change is to promote organizational excellence and workforce stability. Effective leadership, underscored by Fraser et al. (2019), emerges as a linchpin for organizational excellence and workforce stability. For example, leaders who prioritize the well-being and satisfaction of both residents and staff contribute to a positive organizational culture. Regular assessments and continuous staff training, as advocated by De Kerimel et al. (2020), further enhance the competence of the workforce and elevate job satisfaction. The research by Gandhi recognition) reinforces the idea that investing in employee satisfaction through improved working conditions and recognition can result in heightened staff retention, creating a stable and dedicated workforce.

Cultural Shift Towards Individualized Care

A fourth implication for social change is that there needs to be a cultural shift towards individualized care. The integration of person-centered care and technology represents a cultural shift in the landscape of nursing home care. This departure from traditional, one-size-fits-all approaches signifies a broader societal acknowledgment of the diverse and unique needs of the elderly. The research by Agar et al. (2023) and Edelman et al. (2020) suggests that this cultural shift is not confined to the nursing home setting but influences societal perceptions of healthcare for the elderly. Therefore, it challenges conventional norms and encourages a more compassionate, individualized approach to aging and healthcare.

Societal Impact Through Healthcare Accessibility

The fifth implication for social change is to improve healthcare accessibility. The utilization of technology within nursing homes, particularly electronic health records and telehealth services, has broader societal implications for healthcare accessibility. The findings of Ibrahim et al. (2019) and Jung and Oh (2018) indicate that these technological advancements transcend the confines of nursing homes, contributing to improved healthcare accessibility on a societal scale. This not only aligns with the global trend of integrating technology into healthcare systems but also sets a precedent for innovative solutions to enhance overall healthcare accessibility, especially for elderly populations.

Recommendations for Action

Considering the research findings on strategies for optimizing nursing home care quality and addressing employee turnover, actionable recommendations emerge for key

stakeholders across the healthcare landscape. Healthcare administrators and leaders play a pivotal role in implementing change.

Healthcare Administrators and Leaders

To enhance healthcare leadership, prioritizing leadership development is paramount. Specifically, investing in tailored leadership training programs that emphasize fostering a positive organizational culture, providing support to staff, and addressing challenges promptly is essential. Integrating person-centered care models into organizational policies is another crucial step, emphasizing the customization of care plans based on individual resident needs which ensures a more compassionate and effective healthcare environment (Lee et al., 2023). Furthermore, the primary audience for these action steps includes healthcare administrators, nursing home leaders, and policymakers. For effective dissemination, comprehensive guidelines on leadership development and person-centered care should be published in healthcare management journals. Additionally, presenting these findings at healthcare leadership conferences will contribute to wider awareness and adoption.

Frontline Healthcare Staff

Empowering frontline healthcare staff involves providing ongoing training opportunities to enhance their skills and knowledge. Establishing regular training programs covering diverse aspects such as disease management, behavioral strategies, and cultural sensitivity is vital (De Kerimel et al., 2020; Lefebre et al., 2020). The intended audience for these action steps comprises nursing home staff, caregivers, and training institutions. Dissemination efforts should focus on developing training modules

and manuals based on research findings. Furthermore, conducting workshops at nursing conferences and collaborating with healthcare training institutions will ensure a broader reach and impact.

Policymakers

Policymakers play a pivotal role in shaping the healthcare landscape. Advocating for adequate staffing levels in nursing homes through policy recommendations is imperative for ensuring quality care. Additionally, incentivizing technological integration, such as electronic health records and telehealth services, should be a key policy consideration. The audience targeted with these action steps includes legislators, policymakers, and regulatory bodies. Effective dissemination strategies involve publishing policy briefs highlighting the impact of staffing levels on care quality. Engaging in policy forums and conferences provides a platform to present these recommendations and drive policy changes.

Research Community

The research community also plays a crucial role in advancing healthcare practices. Encouraging further research by advocating for research funding and collaboration is essential to explore the long-term impact of technology in healthcare, effective leadership strategies, and innovative approaches to person-centered care. Promoting interdisciplinary research collaboration between healthcare researchers, technology experts, and social scientists is equally important to address multifaceted challenges (Edelman et al., 2020; Jungbauer et al., 2022). The primary audience for these action steps includes researchers, academic institutions, and funding agencies.

Dissemination efforts should focus on publishing research articles in interdisciplinary journals and organizing symposiums at research conferences to facilitate cross-disciplinary discussions.

Training Institutions

Training institutions are instrumental in shaping the future healthcare workforce. Integrating person-centered care into curricula is crucial, including modules that emphasize the practical application of customized care plans. Offering leadership development courses tailored to the healthcare context ensures that future healthcare professionals are equipped with essential leadership skills (Lefebre et al., 2020). The audience targeted with these action steps comprises nursing schools, healthcare training institutions, and educators. Dissemination efforts should include updating curricula to reflect research-backed practices and conducting faculty workshops. Presentations at education conferences will further contribute to disseminating these essential changes in training approaches.

Recommendations for Further Research

Future studies should aim to broaden the geographic scope beyond North

Carolina, encompassing diverse regions to enhance the generalizability of findings. This

could involve a multi-state or nationwide investigation to provide a more comprehensive

understanding of effective strategies applicable across varied contexts. To address the

limitation related to the lack of participants with successful financial records, a more

nuanced exploration of financial metrics and success indicators should be incorporated.

Therefore, researchers can delve deeper into the financial aspects of nursing homes that

have effectively managed employee turnover, providing a clearer link between financial stability and retention strategies.

Given the unique circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic during the current study, future research should explore the long-term effects on nursing home practices and employee turnover. Therefore, conducting longitudinal studies that extend beyond the immediate post-pandemic period would enable researchers to assess sustained impacts and adaptive strategies. To overcome limitations associated with face-to-face communication constraints, future research can adopt a mixed-methods approach. Incorporating quantitative data alongside qualitative insights can provide a more comprehensive understanding of the subject matter while allowing for a nuanced analysis of non-verbal communication cues.

Another recommendation for future studies would be to expand the scope of research to include perspectives from various stakeholders, such as frontline staff, families, and policymakers. This holistic approach can offer a more comprehensive view of the factors influencing employee turnover and the effectiveness of implemented strategies. Additionally, conducting comparative analyses between nursing homes with varying levels of success in mitigating turnover. This approach would facilitate the identification of specific practices or contextual factors contributing to successful outcomes, guiding more targeted recommendations for improvement.

Reflections

Embarking on the DBA Doctoral Study process has been a transformative journey and allowed me to further explore my career as a director of a nursing home. I also

explored mindfulness regarding personal biases and preconceived notions. This doctoral study illuminated the critical importance of separating personal experiences and assumptions from the research endeavor. Through this process, my thinking evolved, emphasizing the significance of maintaining an open mind, challenging assumptions, and embracing the fluid nature of knowledge. As a result, I gained a deeper understanding of the nuanced interplay between personal perspectives and the broader research landscape. Moving forward, these reflections will undoubtedly shape my approach to future research endeavors, reinforcing the commitment to methodological rigor, reflexivity, and a steadfast dedication to contributing meaningful insights to the field.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the qualitative pragmatic inquiry study had significant implications for the professional practice of nursing home administration, particularly in addressing employee turnover and maintaining high-quality care. Three key themes emerged from the findings, providing valuable insights into effective leadership practices aligned with the Transformational Leadership Theory (TLT). The first theme emphasized the significance of nursing home leaders forming personal relationships with employees, fostering a sense of belonging and loyalty. The second theme highlighted the importance of addressing employee needs and recognizing good work to build retention, with recognition emerging as a powerful strategy. The third theme explored how nursing home leaders involved employees in solutions to challenges, showcasing the practical application of democratic leadership within this context.

These findings had broader applications to professional practice across various stakeholders in the healthcare landscape. Healthcare administrators and leaders could prioritize leadership development and integrate person-centered care models into organizational policies to enhance the well-being of both residents and staff. Frontline healthcare staff could benefit from ongoing training opportunities, empowering them with diverse skills and knowledge. Furthermore, future research should expand the geographic scope, delve into financial metrics, explore the long-term effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, and adopt a mixed-methods approach. Including perspectives from various stakeholders and conducting comparative analyses between nursing homes with varying success levels could provide a more comprehensive understanding of effective strategies. Reflecting on the DBA Doctoral Study process, this transformative journey underscored the importance of separating personal biases and assumptions from research endeavors. The commitment to methodological rigor, reflexivity, and a dedication to contributing meaningful insights shaped future research endeavors in the field of nursing home administration

References

- Abd Razak, S., Nazari, N. H. M., & Al-Dhaqm, A. (2020). Data anonymization using pseudonym system to preserve data privacy. *IEEE Access*, 8, 43256–43264. https://doi.org/10.1109/access.2020.2977117
- Abou Hashish, E. A. (2017). Relationship between ethical work climate and nurses' perception of organizational support, commitment, job satisfaction and turnover intent. *Nursing Ethics*, 24(2), 151–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733015594667
- Abrams, H. R., Loomer, L., Gandhi, A., & Grabowski, D. C. (2020). Characteristics of US nursing homes with COVID-19 cases. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(8), 1653–1656. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16661
- Adams, A., Hollingsworth, A., & Osman, A. (2019). The implementation of a cultural change toolkit to reduce nursing burnout and mitigate nurse turnover in the emergency department. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(4), 452–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2019.03.004
- Agar, M. R., Xuan, W., Lee, J., Barclay, G., Oloffs, A., Jobburn, K., Harlum, J., Maurya, N., & Chow, J. S. F. (2023). Factors associated with mode of separation for people with palliative diagnoses with preference for home death receiving care from a nurse-led end of life (palliative Extended and care at home) Program. *Journal of Hospice and Palliative Nursing: JHPN: The Official Journal of the Hospice and Palliative Nurses Association*, 25(4), 215–223.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NJH.0000000000000841

- Akunor, H. S., McCarthy, E. P., Hendricksen, M., Roach, A., Hendrix Rogers, A.,

 Mitchell, S. L., & Lopez, R. P. (2022). Nursing home staff perceptions of end-oflife care for residents with advanced dementia: A multisite qualitative study.

 Journal of Hospice and Palliative Nursing: JHPN: The Official Journal of the

 Hospice and Palliative Nurses Association, 24(3), 152–158.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/NJH.00000000000000843
- Alam, M. K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 16(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Aldrin, N., & Yunanto, K. T. (2019). Job satisfaction as a mediator for the influence of transformational leadership and organizational culture on organizational citizenship behavior. *The Open Psychology Journal*, 12(1), 126–134. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874350101912010126
- Al Harbi, J. A., Alarifi, S., & Mosbah, A. (2019). Transformation leadership and creativity: Effects of employees psychological empowerment and intrinsic motivation. *Personnel Review*, 48(5), 1082–1099. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-11-2017-0354
- Allemang, B., Sitter, K., & Dimitropoulos, G. (2022). Pragmatism as a paradigm for patient-oriented research. *Health Expectations*, 25(1), 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13384
- Algatawenah, A. S. (2018). Transformational leadership style and its relationship with

- change management. *Business Theory and Practice*, *19*, 17–24. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2018.03
- An, S. H. (2019). Employee voluntary and involuntary turnover and organizational performance: Revisiting the hypothesis from classical public administration. *International Public Management Journal*, 22(3), 444–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2018.1549629
- Arble, E. P., Shankar, S., Steinert, S. W., & Daugherty, A. M. (2020). Letter to the editor:

 Mental health and emotional resiliency in Detroit nursing home workers during the

 COVID-19 pandemic. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 6(89).

 https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2020.23
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, Article 1609406919874596. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Ashraf, M. A. (2019). The mediating role of work atmosphere in the relationship between supervisor cooperation, career growth and job satisfaction. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 31(2), 78–94. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-12-2017-0113
- Baek, S. U., Lee, W. T., Kim, M. S., Lim, M. H., Yoon, J. H., & Won, J. U. (2023).

 Preventive & social medicine. *Journal of Korean Medical Science*, 38(37), Article e284.

- Bans-Akutey, A., & Tiimub, B. M. (2021). Triangulation in research. *Academia Letters*, 2, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.20935/al3392
- Baqir, M., Hussain, S., Waseem, R., & Islam, K. A. (2020). Impact of reward and recognition, supervisor support on employee engagement. *American International Journal of Business and Management Studies*, 2(3), 8–21.
 https://doi.org/10.46545/aijbms.v2i3.256
- Barkhuizen, N. E., & Gumede, B. (2021). The relationship between talent management, job satisfaction and voluntary turnover intentions of employees in a selected government institution. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, 19(12), Article a1396. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v19i0.1396
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. The Free Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8(1), 9–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398410
- Boamah, S. A., Laschinger, H. K. S., Wong, C., & Clarke, S. (2018). Effect of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes. *Nursing Outlook*, 66(2), 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(4), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806

- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semi-structured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 42(1), 76–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1379987
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper & Row.
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, 2(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z
- Campbell, R., Goodman-Williams, R., Feeney, H., & Fehler-Cabral, G. (2020). Assessing triangulation across methodologies, methods, and stakeholder groups: The joys, woes, and politics of interpreting convergent and divergent data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 41(1), 125–144.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214018804195
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619–628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Chebon, S. K., Aruasa, W. K., & Chirchir, L. K. (2019). Influence of individualized consideration and intellectual stimulation on employee performance: lessons from

- Moi Teaching and Referral Hospital, Eldoret, Kenya. *IOSR Journal of Humanities* and Social Science, 24(7), 11–22. https://doi.org/10.30845/ijbss.v10n7p14
- Cherry, K. (2022). What is transformational leadership? *Verywell Mind*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-80262-849-420221006
- Cimarolli, V. R., Bryant, N. S., Falzarano, F., & Stone, R. (2022). Factors associated with nursing home direct care professionals' turnover intent during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Geriatric Nursing*, 48, 32–36.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gerinurse.2022.08.012
- Connolly, L. (2016). Managing difficult employees in residential care homes. *Nursing and Residential Care*, *18*(11), 617–619.

 https://doi.org/10.12968/nrec.2016.18.11.617
- Cosolo, L., Leahey, A., Elmi, S., & Homeward, T. (2023). Development of a nurse-initiated proactive telephone nursing assessment guideline for new cancer patients.

 *Canadian Oncology Nursing Journal, 33(1), 116–121.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9894369/
- Cox, C. A. (2019). Nurse manager job satisfaction and retention: A home healthcare perspective. *Nursing Management*, *50*(7), 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.0000558512.58455.68
- Crabtree, B. F., & Miller, W. L. (2022). *Doing qualitative research*. Sage publications.
- Creswell, J., & Poth, C. (2018). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (5th ed). Sage.
- Curado, C., & Santos, R. (2022). Transformational leadership and work performance in

- health care: the mediating role of job satisfaction. *Leadership in Health Services*, *35*(2), 160–173. https://doi.org/10.1108/LHS-06-2021-0051
- Daniel, B. K. (2019). Using the TACT framework to learn the principles of rigour in qualitative research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 17(3), 118–129. https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.17.3.002
- Davidson, P. M., & Szanton, S. L. (2020). Nursing homes and COVID-19: We can and should do better. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 29(15–16), 2758–2759. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15297
- De Kerimel, J., Tavassoli, N., Mathieu, C., De Souto Barreto, P., Berbon, C., Blain, H., Vellas, B., & Rolland, Y. (2020). Seniors living in residential homes: A target population to implement ICOPE (integrated care for older people) program in primary care. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 6, 82–88. http://dx.doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2020.22
- de Mazières, C. L., Morley, J. E., Levy, C., Agenes, F., Barbagallo, M., Cesari, M., De Souto Barreto, P., Donini, L. M., Fitten, J., Franco, A., Izquierdo, M., Kane, R. A., Martin, F. C., Onder, G., Ouslander, J., Pitkala, K., Saliba, D., Sinclair, A., Rodriguez Manas, L., & Rolland, Y. (2017). Prevention of functional decline by reframing the role of nursing homes? *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 18(2), 105–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2016.11.019
- Denny-Brown, N., Stone, D., Hays, B., & Gallagher, D. (2020). *COVID-19 intensifies*nursing home workforce challenges. U.S. Department of Health and Human

 Services Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation Behavioral Health,

- Disability, and Aging Policy. https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/covid-19-intensifies-nursing-home-workforce-challenges
- Dilig-Ruiz, A., MacDonald, I., Varin, M. D., Vandyk, A., Graham, I. D., & Squires, J. E.
 (2018). Job satisfaction among critical care nurses: A systematic
 review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 88, 123–134.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.08.014
- Dumas, C., & Beinecke, R. H. (2018). Change leadership in the 21st century. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 31(4), 867–876. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-02-2017-0042
- Dyck, M. J., & Kim, M. J. (2018). Continuing education preferences, facilitators, and barriers for nursing home nurses. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 49(1), 26–33. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20180102-07
- Eckert, M., Kennedy, K., Neylon, K., Rickard, C. M., Keogh, S., Gray, R., Middleton, S., Homer, C., Whitehead, L., & Sharplin, G. (2023). A scoping review of nurse-led randomised controlled trials. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *32*(17–18), 5550–5561. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.16632
- Edelman, L. S., McConnell, E. S., Kennerly, S. M., Alderden, J., Horn, S. D., & Yap, T. L. (2020). Mitigating the effects of a pandemic: Facilitating improved nursing home care delivery through technology. *JMIR Aging*, 3(1), Article e20110. https://doi.org/10.2196/20110
- Fan, J., Wang, Y., Wang, Y., Wang, H., Xu, L., Niu, M., Yin, R., & Shi, X. (2022). The influence of professional identity and ageism on turnover intention in nursing

- homes: a cross-sectional study from Suzhou, China. *Nursing Communications*, 6(0), Article e2022005. https://doi.org/10.53388/in2022005
- Farahnak, L. R., Ehrhart, M. G., Torres, E. M., & Aarons, G. A. (2020). The influence of transformational leadership and leader attitudes on subordinate attitudes and implementation success. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 27(1), 98–111. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818824529
- Feifer, R. A., Bethea, L., & White, E. M. (2021). Racial disparities in COVID-19 vaccine acceptance: building trust to protect nursing home staff and residents. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 22(9), 1853–1855.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2021.07.006
- Flage, R., & Askeland, T. (2020). Assumptions in quantitative risk assessments: When explicit and when tacit? *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 197, Article 106799. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2020.106799
- Ford, R. C., Newman, S. A., & Ford, L. R. (2023). Giving to get loyalty: How organizations signal their loyalty to employees. *Organizational Dynamics*, *52*(1), Article 100956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2022.100956
- Fraser, K., Punjani, N. S., Wilkey, B., Labonte, S., Lartey, S., Gubersky, J., Nickoriuk, K., Joseph, S., Younus, S., & Miklavcic, J. (2019). Optimizing licensed practical nurses in home care: Their role, scope and opportunities. *Nursing Leadership*, 32(1), 42–59. https://doi.org/10.12927/cjnl.2019.25849
- Gan, E., & Voon, M. L. (2021). The impact of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and employee turnover intentions: A conceptual review. *SHS Web of*

- Conferences, 124(8), Article 08005. https://doi.org/shsconf/202112408005
- Gandhi, A., Yu, H., & Grabowski, D. C. (2021). High nursing staff turnover in nursing homes offers important quality information: Study examines high turnover of nursing staff at US nursing homes. *Health Affairs*, 40(3), 384–391. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00957
- Glasser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (2017). Discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203793206
- Gonella, S., Conti, A., Albanesi, B., Antal, A., Dimonte, V., & Di Giulio, P. (2023).
 Lived experiences of end-of-life communication among nursing home staff: An interpretive phenomenological study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 79(2), 698–710. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.15489
- Grady, C. (2022). The evolution of research participant as partner: The seminal contributions of Bob Veatch. *Theoretical Medicine and Bioethics*, 43(4), 267–276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11017-022-09579-y
- Graf, A. C., Jacob, E., Twigg, D., & Nattabi, B. (2020). Contemporary nursing graduates' transition to practice: A critical review of transition models. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 29(15–16), 3097–3107. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15234
- Gray, L. M., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G. R., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(5), 1292–1301.

https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4212

- Grodal, K., Innstrand, S. T., Haugan, G., & André, B. (2019). Affective organizational commitment among nursing home employees: A longitudinal study on the influence of a health-promoting work environment. *Nursing Open*, *6*(4), 1414–1423. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.338
- Gruessner, R. W. (2023). The modified democratic management model: an ideal leadership model for healthcare? *British Journal of Healthcare Management*, 29(11), 302–307. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjhc.2023.0035
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PloS One*, *15*(5), Article e0232076. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Gunasekara, I., Pentland, T., Rodgers, T., & Patterson, S. (2014). What makes an excellent mental health nurse? A pragmatic inquiry initiated and conducted by people with lived experience of service use. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 23(2), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12027
- Halkias, D., Neubert, M., Thurman, P. W., & Harkiolakis, N. (2022). *The multiple case study design: Methodology and application for management education*.

 Routledge.
- Harrington, C., Dellefield, M. E., Halifax, E., Fleming, M. L., & Bakerjian, D. (2020).

 Appropriate nurse staffing levels for US nursing homes. *Health Services Insights*, *13*, Article 1178632920934785.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1178632920934785
- Haunch, K., Thompson, C., Arthur, A., Edwards, P., Goodman, C., Hanratty, B., Meyer,

J., Charlwood, A., Valizade, D., Backhaus, R., Verbeek, H., Hamers, J., & Spilsbury, K. (2021). Understanding the staff behaviours that promote quality for older people living in long term care facilities: A realist review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 117, Article 103905.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.103905

- Hirsch, E., & Gellner, D. N. (2020). Introduction: Ethnography of organizations and organizations of ethnography. In *Inside organizations* (pp. 1–15). Routledge.
- Holland, M. L., Christensen, J. J., Shone, L. P., Kearney, M. H., & Kitzman, H. J. (2014).
 Women's reasons for attrition from a nurse home visiting program. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing: JOGNN*, 43(1), 61–70.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1552-6909.12263
- Hosna, A. U., Islam, S., & Hamid, M. (2021). A review of the relationship of idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individual consideration with sustainable employees' performance. *International Journal of Progressive Sciences and Technologies*, 25(1), 322–326.

 https://doi.org/10.52155/ijpsat.v25.1.2798
- House, J. (2018). Authentic vs elicited data and qualitative vs quantitative research methods in pragmatics: Overcoming two non-fruitful dichotomies. *System*, 75, 4–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.014
- Huning, T. M., Hurt, K. J., & Frieder, R. E. (2020, May). The effect of servant leadership, perceived organizational support, job satisfaction and job embeddedness on turnover intentions: An empirical investigation. In *Evidence*-

- based HRM: A global forum for empirical scholarship (Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 177–194). Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Ibrahim, S., Donelle, L., Regan, S., & Sidani, S. (2019). Predicting registered nurses' behavioural intention to use electronic documentation system in home care:

 Application of an adapted Unified Theory of Acceptance and use of technology model. *Nursing Leadership*, 32(2), 48–70. https://doi.org/10.12927/cjnl.2019.25961
- Inayatullah, S. (2018). Foresight in challenging environments. *Journal of Futures Studies*, 22(4), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.6531/JFS.201806.22(4).0002
- Jain, P. K., Jain, M., & Pamula, R. (2020). Explaining and predicting employees' attrition: a machine learning approach. SN Applied Sciences, 2, 1–11.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-020-2519-4
- Jankelová, N., & Joniaková, Z. (2021, March). Communication skills and transformational leadership style of first-line nurse managers in relation to job satisfaction of nurses and moderators of this relationship. *Healthcare*, *9*(3), Article 346). https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9030346
- Jastrow, E. L. (2019). Impact of perceived transformational leadership on turnover intention in prelicensure nursing faculty (Publication No. 22622692) [Doctoral dissertation, Grand Canyon University]. Grand Canyon University ProQuest Dissertation Publishing.
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical*

Education, 84(1), Article 7120.

https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120

- Jones, B., Comerford, S., Curry, K., & Holubiec, I. (2020). Navigating turbulent waters:

 Leading home and community care practice change during the COVID-19

 pandemic. *Nursing Leadership*, *33*(4), 62–67.

 https://doi.org/10.12927/cjnl.2021.26419
- Jung, C.-S., & Oh, H.-K. (2018). The effect of family support on career decision-making, self-efficacy and types of career decision-making among nursing students.
 International Journal of Smart Home, 12(1), 7–12.
 https://doi.org/10.21742/ijsh.2018.12.1.02
- Jungbauer, F., Huber, L., Lammert, A., Ludwig, S., Rotter, N., Zaubitzer, L., & Schell, A. (2022). Prevalence of subjective impairments of the sense of smell and taste in employees of retirement and nursing homes during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.
 Nursing Open, 9(1), 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.1005
- Kaushik, V., & Walsh, C. A. (2019). Pragmatism as a research paradigm and its implications for social work research. *Social Sciences*, 8(9), Article 255. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci8090255
- Keilty, K., Chu, S., Bahlibi, A., McKay, S., & Wong, M. (2022). Case study: Achieving "hands-on" practice for remote family caregivers and homecare nurses of children with medical complexity. *Nursing Leadership*, 35(1), 10–23.
 https://doi.org/10.12927/cjnl.2022.26754

- Kelly, L. M., & Cordeiro, M. (2020). Three principles of pragmatism for research on organizational processes. *Methodological Innovations*, 13(2), Article 2059799120937242. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799120937242
- Kelly, P. (2020). Coaching vs mentorship in the workplace. *Pro-noctis*. https://www.pro-noctis.com/coaching-vs-mentoring/
- Khan, N. A., Khan, A. N., Soomro, M. A., & Khan, S. K. (2020). Transformational leadership and civic virtue behavior: Valuing act of thriving and emotional exhaustion in the hotel industry. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 25(4), 216–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2020.05.001
- Kharabsheh, O. H., Alias, R., & Ismail, M. (2017). The mediating effect of organisation culture on transformational leadership and turnover intention in Jordanian public hospitals. *SSRN*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3012101
- Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical Teacher*, 42(8), 846–854.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030
- Kim, S. K., & Park, M. (2017). Effectiveness of person-centered care on people with dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Interventions In Aging*, 12, 381–397.
 https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S117637
- Kumar, S. (2022). The impact of talent management practices on employee turnover and retention intentions. *Global Business and Organizational Excellence*, 41(2), 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.22130

- Labrague, L. J., Nwafor, C. E., & Tsaras, K. (2020). Influence of toxic and transformational leadership practices on nurses' job satisfaction, job stress, absenteeism and turnover intention: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 28(5), 1104–1113. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13053
- Lai, F. Y., Tang, H. C., Lu, S. C., Lee, Y. C., & Lin, C. C. (2020). Transformational leadership and job performance: The mediating role of work engagement. *Sage Open*, 10(1), Article 2158244019899085.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019899085
- Lai, H., Hossin, M. A., Li, J., Wang, R., & Hosain, M. S. (2022). Examining the relationship between COVID-19 related job stress and employees' turnover intention with the moderating role of perceived organizational support: Evidence from SMEs in China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(6), Article 3719. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063719
- Lee, H.-T. S., Yang, C.-L., & Hu, W.-Y. (2023). Impediments to signing advance directives in nursing home residents: A qualitative study. *Journal of Hospice and Palliative Nursing: JHPN: The Official Journal of the Hospice and Palliative Nurses Association*, 25(4), E65–E69.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NJH.000000000000055

Lee, J. (2022). Nursing home nurses' turnover intention: A systematic review. *Nursing Open*, 9(1), 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.1051

- Lee, M. C., & Ding, A. Y. (2020). Comparing empowering, transformational, and transactional leadership on supervisory coaching and job performance: A multilevel perspective. *PsyCh Journal*, 9(5), 668–681. https://doi.org/10.1002/pchj.345
- Lee, T. W., Hom, P., Eberly, M., & Li, J. J. (2018). Managing employee retention and turnover with 21st century ideas. *Organizational Dynamics*, 47(2), 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2017.08.004
- Lee, T. W., Hom, P. W., Eberly, M. B., Junchao, L., & Mitchell, T. R. (2017). On the next decade of research in voluntary employee turnover. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, *31*(3), 201–221. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2016.0123
- Lefebre, N., Sharkey, S., Virani, T., Fu, K., Brown, M., & Ackerman, M. L. (2020).

 Lessons on COVID-19 from home and community: Perspectives of nursing leaders at all levels. *Nursing Leadership*, *33*(4), 51–61.

 https://doi.org/10.12927/cjnl.2021.26420
- Lei, H., Leaungkhamma, L., & Le, P. B. (2020). How transformational leadership facilitates innovation capability: The mediating role of employees' psychological capital. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 41(4), 481–499. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-06-2019-0245
- Levitt, H. M., Bamberg, M., Creswell, J. W., Frost, D. M., Josselson, R., & Suárez-Orozco, C. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. *American Psychologist*, 73(1), 26–46. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000151

- Lindgren, B. M., Lundman, B., & Graneheim, U. H. (2020). Abstraction and interpretation during the qualitative content analysis process. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 108, Article 103632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103632
- Long Term Care Community Coalition. (2022). LTCCC alert: Nursing home staff turnover above 50%. https://nursinghome411.org/alert-staffing-q1-2022/
- Low, J. (2019). A pragmatic definition of the concept of theoretical saturation. *Sociological Focus*, 52(2), 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2018.1544514
- Luis, C., & Vance, C. (2020). A pandemic crisis: mentoring, leadership, and the millennial nurse. *Nursing Economics*, 38(3), 152–163.
- Magbity, J. B., Ofei, A. M. A., & Wilson, D. (2020). Leadership styles of nurse managers and turnover intention. *Hospital Topics*, 98(2), 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/00185868.2020.1750324
- Manoppo, V. P. (2020). Transformational leadership as a factor that decreases turnover intention: a mediation of work stress and organizational citizenship behavior. *The TQM Journal*, 32(6), 1395–1412. https://doi.org/10.1108/tqm-05-2020-0097
- Mansaray, E. H. (2019). The role of leadership style in organizational change management: A literature review. *Journal of Human Resource Management*, 7(1), 18–31. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.jhrm.20190701.13
- McCreary, D. D. J. (2020). Home health nursing job satisfaction and retention: Meeting the growing need for home health nurses. *The Nursing Clinics of North America*,

- 55(1), 121–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnur.2019.11.002
- McGrath, R., Bowen-Salter, H., Milanese, E., & Pearce, P. (2021). Developing a collaborative AutoNetnographic approach to researching doctoral students' online experiences. In *Qualitative and digital research in times of crisis: Methods, reflexivity, and ethics* (pp. 113–128). Policy Press.

 https://doi.org/10.51952/9781447363828.ch007
- McManus, S. (2019). Using transformational leadership to reduce employee turnover in hospital organizations [Doctoral Dissertation, Walden University]. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Scholarworks, No. 7940.
 https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/7940/
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (Eds.). (2019). *Qualitative research in practice:*Examples for discussion and analysis. John Wiley & Sons.
- Mi, L., Gan, X., Xu, T., Long, R., Qiao, L., & Zhu, H. (2019). A new perspective to promote organizational citizenship behaviour for the environment: The role of transformational leadership. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 239, Article 118002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118002
- Mihas, P. (2019). Narrative analysis (2nd Ed). SAGE research methods datasets.
- Miller, V. J., Maziarz, L., Wagner, J., Bell, J., & Burek, M. (2023). Nursing assistant turnover in nursing homes: A scoping review of the literature. *Geriatric Nursing*, 51, 360–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gerinurse.2023.03.027
- Min, D., Cho, E., Kim, G. S., Lee, K. H., Yoon, J. Y., Kim, H. J., & Choi, M. H. (2022). Factors associated with retention intention of registered nurses in Korean nursing

- homes. *International Nursing Review*, 69(4), 459–469. https://doi.org/10.1111/inr.12754
- Mirick, R. G., & Wladkowski, S. P. (2019). Skype in qualitative interviews: Participant and researcher perspectives. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(12), 3061–3072. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3632
- Mohajan, H. K. (2020). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23–48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Molloy, D. W., O'Sullivan, C., O'Caoimh, R., Duggan, E., Mcgrath, K., Nolan, M., Hennessy, J., O'Keeffe, G., & O'Connor, K. (2020). The experience of managing covid-19 in Irish nursing homes in 2020. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 6, 47–49. https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2020.13
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage publications.
- Nambisan, P., Abahussain, M., Duthie, E. H., Galambos, C., Zhang, B., & Bukowy, E. (2021). Nursing home vulnerabilities amid COVID-19 pandemic: A study of Midwestern states. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2021.9
- Nascimento, L. D. S., & Steinbruch, F. K. (2019). "The interviews were transcribed", but how? Reflections on management research. *RAUSP Management Journal*, *54*, 413–429. https://doi.org/10.1108/RAUSP-05-2019-0092
- Naseer, A., Perveen, K., Afzal, M., Waqas, A., & Gillani, S. A. (2018). The impact of leadership styles on staff nurses' turnover intentions. *International Journal of*

- Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 7(12), 665–673. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v7-i12/3702
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- Noguchi-Watanabe, M., Yamamoto-Mitani, N., & Takai, Y. (2016). How does collegial support increase retention of registered nurses in homecare nursing agencies? A qualitative study. *BMC Nursing*, *15*(1), Article 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-016-0157-3
- Nursing Solutions Incorporated. (2023). 2023 NSI National Health Care Retention and RN staffing report.

 https://www.nsinursingsolutions.com/Documents/Library/NSI_National_Health_Ca
 - https://www.nsinursingsolutions.com/Documents/Library/NSI_National_Health_Carre_Retention_Report.pdf
- Ogony, S. M., & Majola, B. K. (2018). Factors causing employee turnover in the public service, South Africa. *Journal of Management & Administration*, 2018(1), 77–100. https://hdl.handle.net/10520/EJC-110784ed03
- Oliffe, J. L., Kelly, M. T., Gonzalez Montaner, G., & Yu Ko, W. F. (2021). Zoom interviews: Benefits and concessions. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, Article 16094069211053522.

https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211053522

- Omotowa, O. O., & Hussey, L. C. (2019). Profit maximization and nurse staffing standards/levels in for-profit and not-for-profit nursing homes. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 5, 21–23. https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2019.4
- Omotowa, O. O., & Hussey, L. C. (2020). Nurse staffing and falls among the older adults in nursing homes. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 6, 90–92. https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2020.24
- Otte, I., Werning, A., Nossek, A., Vollmann, J., Juckel, G., & Gather, J. (2020).

 Challenges faced by peer support workers during the integration into hospital-based mental health-care teams: Results from a qualitative interview study. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 66(3), 263–269.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764020904764
- Oumelkheir, B., & Nadia, D. (2021). Assessment process in the delimitation of historic urban landscape of Algiers by AHP. *Miscellanea Geographica*, 25(2), 110–126. https://doi.org/10.2478/mgrsd-2020-0053
- Page, M., Pool, L., Crick, M., & Leahy, R. (2020). Empowerment of learning and knowledge: Appreciating professional development for registered nurses in aged residential care. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 43, Article 102703.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2020.102703
- Park, T., & Pierce, B. (2020). Impacts of transformational leadership on turnover intention of child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 108, Article 104624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104624
- Parker, C., Scott, S., & Geddes, A. (2019). Snowball sampling. SAGE research methods

foundations.

- Pastores, S. M., Kvetan, V., Coopersmith, C. M., Farmer, J. C., Sessler, C., Christman, J. W., D'Agostino, R., Diaz-Gomez, J., Gregg, S. R., Khan, R. A., Kapu, A. N., Masur, H., Mehta, G., Moore, J., Oropello, J. M., & Price, K. (2019). Workforce, workload, and burnout among intensivists and advanced practice providers: A narrative review. *Critical Care Medicine*, 47(4), 550–557.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/ccm.00000000000003637
- Paxton, A. (2020). The Belmont Report in the age of big data: Ethics at the intersection of psychological science and data science. In S. E. Woo, L. Tay, & R. W. Proctor (Eds.), *Big data in psychological research* (pp. 347–372). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000193-016
- Peerman, C. H. (2022). Validating the perception: Perceived leadership styles among nursing home administrators. *Journal of Health Administration Education*, 38(4), 913–930.
- Peerman, C. H. (2023). The relationship between leadership styles, job satisfaction, and tenure among nursing home administrators. *Journal of Health Administration Education*, 39(2), 237–252.
- Perez, J. (2021). Leadership in healthcare: Transitioning from clinical professional to healthcare leader. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 66(4), 280-302. https://doi.org/10.1097/jhm-d-20-00057

- Poels, J., Verschueren, M., Milisen, K., & Vlaeyen, E. (2020). Leadership styles and leadership outcomes in nursing homes: a cross-sectional analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05854-7
- Purbhoo, D., & Wojtak, A. (2018). Patient and family-centred home and community care:

 Realizing the opportunity. *Nursing Leadership*, *31*(2), 40–51.

 https://doi.org/10.12927/cjnl.2018.25604
- Rahi, S. (2017). Research design and methods: A systematic review of research paradigms, sampling issues and instruments development. *International Journal of Economics & Management Sciences*, 6(2), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.4172/2162-6359.1000403
- Rajamohan, S., Porock, D., & Chang, Y.-P. (2019). Understanding the relationship between staff and job satisfaction, stress, turnover, and staff outcomes in the person-centered care nursing home arena: Staff outcomes in PCC NH arena.

 **Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 51(5), 560–568. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12488
- Robbins, B., & Davidhizar, R. (2020). Transformational leadership in health care today. *The Health Care Manager*, *39*(3), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.hcm.0000285014.26397.e7
- Roberts, R. E. (2020). Qualitative interview questions: Guidance for novice researchers. *Qualitative Report*, 25(9), 3185–3203. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4640

- Rolland, Y., & de Souto Barreto, P. (2022). Editorial: Research in nursing homes in the time of COVID. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 8, 6–7. https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2022.2
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: Toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432–451.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Ross, P. T., & Bibler Zaidi, N. L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8, 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Roth, C., Berger, S., Krug, K., Mahler, C., & Wensing, M. (2021). Internationally trained nurses and host nurses' perceptions of safety culture, work-life-balance, burnout, and job demand during workplace integration: A cross-sectional study. *BMC*Nursing, 20, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-021-00581-8
- Saldaña, J. (2021). Coding techniques for quantitative and mixed data. In *The Routledge* reviewer's guide to mixed methods analysis, 151–160. Routledge.
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Research in Nursing & Health*, 23(4), 334–340. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g">https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g
- Schols, J. M. G. A., Poot, E. P., Nieuwenhuizen, N. M., & Achterberg, W. P. (2020).

 Dealing with covid-19 in Dutch nursing homes. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 6, 30–34. https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2020.7
- Shah, S. H. A., Saeed, M. A., Yasir, M., Siddique, M., & Umar, A. (2018). The impact of

- transformational leadership on turnover intentions directly and through talent engagement in the banking sector of twin cities of Pakistan. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, *3*(11), 410–430. https://doi.org/10.53369/xsmi3430
- Sholar, A. (2021). The caregiving crisis: Significant changes needed to fill the void of caregivers in North Carolina nursing homes. *North Carolina Medical Journal*, 82(5), 333–339. https://doi.org/10.18043/ncm.82.5.333
- Smets, T., Pivodic, L., Piers, R., Pasman, H. R. W., Engels, Y., Szczerbińska, K.,
 Kylänen, M., Gambassi, G., Payne, S., Deliens, L., & Van den Block, L. (2018).
 The palliative care knowledge of nursing home staff: The EU FP7 PACE cross-sectional survey in 322 nursing homes in six European countries. *Palliative Medicine*, 32(9), 1487–1497. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216318785295
- Smith, R. M., Gray, J. E., & Homer, C. S. E. (2023). Common content, delivery modes and outcome measures for faculty development programs in nursing and midwifery:

 A scoping review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 70(103648), Article 103648.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2023.103648
- Spetz, J., Stone, R. I., Chapman, S. A., & Bryant, N. (2019). Home and community-based workforce for patients with serious illness requires support to meet growing needs. *Health Affairs*, *38*(6), 902–909. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00021
- Staller, K. M. (2021). Big enough? Sampling in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Social Work*, 20(4), 897–904. https://doi.org/10.1177/14733250211024516
- Sun, R., & Wang, W. (2017). Transformational leadership, employee turnover intention, and actual voluntary turnover in public organizations. *Public Management*

- Review, 19(8), 1124–1141. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2016.1257063
- Taheri Gharagzlu, T., Safavi, M., & Fesharaki, M. (2020). The effect of employee's humor training on depression, anxiety and stress of the elderly residents in Tehran's nursing homes: a randomized clinical trial. *Medical Sciences Journal*, 30(3), 287–298. https://doi.org/10.29252/iau.30.3.287
- Tangatarova, S., & Gao, Y. (2021). Transformational leadership and patient safety in hospital: The roles of safety culture, decision-making capacity, and locus of control. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 10(2), 106–122. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v10i2.1084
- Tappen, R. M., & Sopcheck, J. (2023). Nursing home resident, family, and staff perspectives on achieving comfort at end of life: A qualitative study. *Journal of Hospice and Palliative Nursing: JHPN: The Official Journal of the Hospice and Palliative Nurses Association*, 25(4), 188–196.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/NJH.00000000000000953
- Tasseron-Dries, P. E., Smaling, H. J., Doncker, S. M., Achterberg, W. P., & van der Steen, J. T. (2021). Family involvement in the Namaste care family program for dementia: a qualitative study on experiences of family, nursing home staff, and volunteers. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *121*, Article 103968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.103968
- Tatar, A. (2020). Impact of job satisfaction on organizational commitment. *Research Gate. 1*.
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/339401568_Impact_of_Job_Satisfaction

on_Organizational_Commitment

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing-Quarterly Scientific, Online Official Journal of GORNA*, 7(3 September-December 2018), 155–163.

 https://doi.org/10.5377/paradigma.v25i39.6257
- Timans, R., Wouters, P., & Heilbron, J. (2019). Mixed methods research: what it is and what it could be. *Theory and Society*, 48, 193–216. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11186-019-09345-5
- Tsai, S. L., Stocker, J. F., Tsai, C. H., & Yeh, S. H. (2019). The meaning of the death and dying of Taiwanese nursing home residents: The nursing staff's view. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, 5, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2019.1
- Van Waeyenberg, T., Decramer, A., & Anseel, F. (2015). Home nurses' turnover intentions: The impact of informal supervisory feedback and self-efficacy. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 71(12), 2867–2878. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12747
- van Woerkom, M., Meyers, C., & Bakker, A. (2022). Considering strengths use in organizations as a multilevel construct. *Human Resource Management Review*, 32(3), Article 100767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2020.100767
- Varnaseri, A., & Alhaei, H. (2022). Method of narrative analysis or narrative research. *Popularization of Science*, *13*(2), 176–200. https://www.popscijournal.ir/article_168127_en.html?lang=fa
- Vezina, A. (2019). In my experience... Engaging, developing and inspiring your workforce is key to talent retention. *Executive Coaching Connections*, 1.

- Vu, T. T. N. (2021). Understanding validity and reliability from qualitative and quantitative research traditions. VNU Journal of Foreign Studies, 37(3), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.25073/2525-2445/vnufs.4672
- Wei, H., Roberts, P., Strickler, J., & Corbett, R. W. (2019). Nurse leaders' strategies to foster nurse resilience. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(4), 681–687. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12736
- White, E. M., Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., & McHugh, M. D. (2020). Nursing home work environment, care quality, registered nurse burnout and job dissatisfaction. *Geriatric Nursing*, 41(2), 158–164.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gerinurse.2019.08.007
- White, E. M., Wetle, T. F., Reddy, A., & Baier, R. R. (2021). Front-line nursing home staff experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 22(1), 199–203.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2020.11.022
- Williams, K. N., Ayyagari, P., Perkhounkova, Y., Bott, M. J., Herman, R., & Bossen, A. (2017). Costs of a staff communication intervention to reduce dementia behaviors in nursing home care. *The Journal of Nursing Home Research Sciences*, *3*, 22–27. https://doi.org/10.14283/jnhrs.2017.4
- Wood, L. M., Sebar, B., & Vecchio, N. (2020). Application of rigour and credibility in qualitative document analysis: Lessons learnt from a case study. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(2), 456–470.

https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4240

- Woods, P. A. (2020). Democratic leadership. In *Oxford research encyclopedia of education*. Oxford University Press.
- Yang, T., Jiang, X., & Cheng, H. (2022). Employee recognition, task performance, and OCB: Mediated and moderated by pride. *Sustainability*, *14*(3), Article 1631. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14031631
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications (6th Ed). Sage.
- Yücel, İ. (2021). Transformational leadership and turnover intentions: the mediating role of employee performance during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Administrative Sciences*, 11(3), Article 81. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci11030081
- Yue, C. A., Men, L. R., & Ferguson, M. A. (2019). Bridging transformational leadership, transparent communication, and employee openness to change: The mediating role of trust. *Public Relations Review*, 45, 10177–10179.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012
- Yusliza, M. Y., Noor Faezah, J., Ali, N. A., Mohamad Noor, N. M., Ramayah, T.,

 Tanveer, M. I., & Fawehinmi, O. (2021). Effects of supportive work environment on employee retention: the mediating role of person–organisation fit. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 53(3), 201–216. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-12-2019-0111
- Zivtins, R., Jay, T., Winston, R., & Alexander, A. (2020). Mixed methods single case study research (MMSCR): Challenges in WP evaluation. *Widening Participation* & *Lifelong Learning*, 22(2). https://doi.org/10.5456/wpll.22.2.225

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

1. Introduce self to the participant

Thank you for participating in this study and your willingness to complete the interview process. My name is Laticia Beatty, and I'm a student at the Walden University conducting research on staff retention at nursing homes in North Carolina.

2. Introduce the research question, the purpose of the study and answer any initial questions the participant may have.

The purpose of this study is to explore strategies that nursing home leaders use to retain staff while still providing quality care. The implications of the study include understanding ways that professional development programs can be improved for urban school administrators. The research question I'm trying to address is: What strategies do nursing home leaders use to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce costs associated with staff turnover??

3. Thank the participant for their participation in the study.

Thank you again for agreeing to participate in my study.

4. Review the informed consent form and answer any questions the participant may have.

Before we continue, I need to verify that you have understand the consent form and understand the ethical standards for this interview. All personal information will be stored electronically and may only be accessed by me via a password. Raw data, such as transcripts of your answers today, will be kept in a password-protected cloud drive accessible to me. When the information from the interview is published in the final study,

participant confidentiality will remain. All transcripts and recordings of the interview will be kept private on a password-protected computer accessible to me only. Do you have any questions about the consent form or any of the measures taken to preserve your confidentiality?

5. Provide the participant with a copy of the informed consent form for their personal records and review.

Here's a copy of the informed consent form for your personal records and review.

6. Begin recording the interview.

I'm going to start recording the interview now.

- 7. Ask the interview questions.
 - 1. What strategies have you used to successfully reduce employee turnover?
 - 2. How do you monitor and measure nursing home employee retention?
 - 3. What leadership strategies do you use to prevent employee turnover?
 - 4. What challenges have you faced when implementing your employee turnover reduction strategies?
 - 5. How did you successfully address those challenge?
 - 6. What strategies do you use to maintain quality care for your nursing home residents?
 - 7. How do you monitor and measure the quality of care for nursing home residents?
 - 8. What strategies do you use to reduce costs associated with employee turnover at your nursing home?

- 9. How do you ensure that the reduction of costs does not result in the reduction of quality care?
- 10. What successful strategies were used to make the employees feel motivated?
- 11. What are the outcomes of the strategies you use to make employees feel motivation?
- 12. What successful strategies do you use to make employees feel empowered?
- 13. What are the outcomes of the strategies you use to make employees feel empowered?
- 14. What other insights would you like to provide that we have not already discussed regarding your nursing home's strategies to reduce employee turnover, maintain quality of care, and reduce cost?
- 9. Ask any follow-up questions.
- 10. End the interview and stop the recording. Explain to the participant of the member checking and transcription review process.

We have reached the end of this interview. Thank you for your participation in this study and sharing your personal experiences with me. I appreciate your transparency and honesty in each of your responses. Do you have any questions about the interview or the research process?

As a reminder, I will take the audio from these recordings and transcribe them verbatim. I will be emailing you a summary of the interview. It would be great if you can review the summary and make sure that you're comfortable with all of the responses. If

you'd like any changes to be made to the summary so that it more accurately reflects your thoughts and ideas, please let me know. That's an important part of the research process.

11. Thank the participant for the participation in the study.

Thank you again for participating in my study. You can contact me at any time if you have any questions or concerns.

.